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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

To Shareholders:

The year of 2011 was a challenging year for the Group. The
PRC Central Government in its Twelfth Five-Year Plan covering
2011-2015 explicitly prioritised energy conservation and
environmental protection (“EP”). The Government, in fact,
introduced various policies to encourage EP commercialisation
which fuelled the rapid growth of the domestic EP industry.
However, enterprises’ increased investment in the industry
created intense competition and the Group’s business was
inevitably affected. In this competitive environment, the Group
continued to develop its wood wool cement board (“WWCB”)
business, eyeing on its future potential while, at the same time,
focusing on the sale of pipes, water and flue gas treatment
products and equipment to capture the opportunities in the EP
industry.

The Group believes that EP is becoming the main development
direction for China. The PRC Central Government’s stated
priority of supporting the EP industry can be seen in its planned
investment in water treatment projects for 2012 which will
exceed the RMB345.2 billion earmarked last year. Meanwhile,
the Central Government is accelerating the construction of
subsidised housing. Thus, the management is optimistic about
the prospects of the EP industry in China.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to invest more
resources in developing and promoting the WWCB business
and securing more sales and engineering contracts for its
EP-related business. The Group is constantly exploring
favorable investment opportunities created by the country’'s EP
initiatives. The Group will also prudently implement business
development strategies with reference to market environment
so as to maintain the growth of its businesses and generate
greater value for shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group achieved
a total turnover of RMB476.0 million, a decrease of 26.4%
compared with last year (2010: RMB646.7 million), mainly due
to the intense competition in the market. Affected by the rising
costs, the Group recorded gross profit of RMB60.0 million
(2010: RMB142.7 million) and a gross profit margin of 12.6%
(2010: 22.1%) during the year. On the other hand, as the
WWCB business was still in the development stage and had
not yet contributed revenue to the Group, profit attributable to
owners of the Company was RMB9.5 million (2010: RMB76.3
million). Earnings per share were RMB1.19 cents (2010:
RMB9.53 cents).

PROSPECTS

Environmentally friendly construction materials business - a
new growth driver with huge potential

Under the mission to helping create a greener society that
uses resources more efficiently, the Group made its efforts
to provide a comfortable living environment and contribute
to sustainable development of the economy by producing
energy conservation construction materials. The introduction
of WWCB production lines from the Netherlands in 2010
marked the Group’s expansion into the environmentally friendly
construction materials business. WWCB is an environmentally
friendly inorganic energy-conserving construction material that
is made from cement, ecologically-friendly fast growing timber,
and nontoxic chemical addictives through a highly pressurised
process. This material is widely used overseas because of its
distinctive heat retention, fire resistant and insect repellant
properties, along with its being sound-proof, moisture-proof and
mould-proof properties. It also does not contain formaldehyde
or any other volatile organic compounds. The benefits of WWCB
make it a perfect material for renovation and wall construction,
in particular, for residential and commercial buildings requiring
heat conservation, high durability and savings of energy
in regions with greater weather and climate temperature
fluctuation.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

In January 2012, the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development of the PRC approved the Group’s WWCB as
a standard construction product of the industry with effect
from 1 August 2012. In addition, the Group has signed a
cooperative agreement with Jiangsu Research Institute of the
Building Science Co., Ltd. (“JRIBS”) to evaluate and analyze
the shape and specification of boards in relation to compliance
with the national construction requirements, as well as product
optimisation. JRIBS is also to provide working guidance for

the Group’s pilot and demonstration projects. Having JRIBS,
a key construction science institutes in China, to participate in
the study can help improve the quality of the Group’s products
and pilot projects, as well as the enhancing recognition of the
Group’s products in the country.

Operation of the Group’s first WWCB production line
commenced in March 2011. To date, the Group has received
many inquiries from Government organisation and potential
overseas buyers, and samples have been sent to them for
testing and reference. The second production line has started a
trial run, and the third line is currently under installation and is
scheduled for a trial run in May 2012. To satisfy market demand,
the Group continues to expand its production facilities and
already placed orders for three new lines at the end of 2011,
and the lines are expected to commence testing in the fourth
quarter of 2012. With a capacity of 140,000 m? for each line,
the additional capacity should optimise the Group’s workflow
and boost production efficiency. In addition to its Yixing factory,
the Group is planning to set up new production bases in other
provinces, such as Liaoning, to sell its quality wall construction
material to a wider geographic area.
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The Group understands that the market has just started to
realise the features and benefits of WWCB. As this product
has huge potential for further growth, the Group is taking
advantage of the stricter regulations and requirements for
construction materials and the national subsidized affordable
housing programme launched by the PRC Government. To tap
these opportunities, the Group is promoting its environmentally
friendly construction material through various channels such
as its self-operated sales network and other construction
distributors’ networks, as well as marketing through public
media. The Group expects that the WWCB business will turn
into an important income source when it is widely accepted in
the market.

Water and flue gas treatment business - continues to bring
stable revenue to the Group

Within the Twelfth Five-Year Plan programme, the energy saving
and EP industry is designated as one of seven key emerging
industries by the Central Government. The Government
indicated that the investment in water treatment projects will
exceed RMB345.2 billion of last year. This favourable policy has
boosted the demand for EP industry products and solutions in
China. Currently, the Group has 47 contracts at a total value
of approximately RMB446.8 million on hand. These include
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

the construction of a waste water treatment project for an
internationally well-known automobile company’s production
plant in Liaoning, at a total value of RMB18.0 million; the
project is now in progress. Also, there is a construction contract
with a large copper manufacturer in Anhui for its flue gas
desulphurisation (“FGD”) facility project. The contract sum is
about RMB45.0 million and is expected to be booked in the
second half of 2012. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
expand its business coverage from construction engineering to
large-scale industrial waste water treatment, construction and
operation projects, so as to expand its income stream, generate
a stable cashflow and maximise return on investment.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil), as the capital
will be reserved for the development of the Group’s different
business operations, in particular, to capture the opportunities
in the enormous market for WWCB.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my gratitude to all of our customers, business partners
and shareholders for their support and trust. | would also like to
express my appreciation to all management team members and
staff for their dedication and contribution in the past year.

By order of the Board

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
Jiang Quanlong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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Management Discussion & Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

As an integrated EP services provider in the PRC, the Group
mainly designs and manufactures water and flue gas treatment
products and equipment, as well as sells pipes. The Group also
undertakes EP construction engineering projects and provides
EP-related professional services. To further develop EP-related
businesses with high growth potential to broaden its income
stream, the Group actively expanded the scale of WWCB
production lines according to plan while focusing on the sale of
pipes, water and flue gas treatment products and equipment in
2011.

Sale of EP Products and Equipment

During the year under review, sale of EP products and
equipment recorded a turnover of approximately RMB432.1
million, accounting for around 90.8% of the Group’s total
turnover.

Sale of Water Treatment Products and Equipment

The water treatment systems produced by the Group are mainly
used to process industrial and urban wastewater. During the
year under review, the water treatment business generated a
turnover of approximately RMB342.2 million, accounting for
71.9% of the Group’s turnover. The water treatment business is
still the main focus of the Group’s contracts on hand and during
the year, the Group completed 39 water treatment related
sales contracts. The Group will continue to secure more water
treatment projects to maintain steady growth of the business.
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Management Discussion & Analysis
EEENWED

Sale of Flue Gas Treatment Products and Equipment

The Group mainly provides FGD services to power plants
as well as to clients in the iron and steel, cement and glass
industries. During the year, as growth in these industries
slowed down, the demand for flue gas treatment subsequently
weakened. The Group completed 7 projects related to sale of
flue gas treatment, contributing a turnover of approximately
RMB75.9 million, representing 16.0% of the Group’s turnover.

Sale of Pipes

In addition to providing clients with comprehensive EP solutions,
the Group also produces fibreglass-reinforced plastic pipes
with diameters of up to 2,000 mm at its Yixing workshop. The
estimated total annual production capacity is approximately
172,680 metres. During the year under review, the Group
completed 3 contracts related to the sale of pipes, generating
turnover of approximately RMB14.0 million, accounting for
2.9% of the Group’s turnover. The decrease in turnover was
mainly caused by the drop in selling prices due to intensified
competition in the industry.

EP Construction Engineering Projects

Leveraging its extensive industry expertise, professional
research and development capabilities and technologies, the
Group has been providing one-stop EP solutions to many
clients. During the year, this segment recorded a turnover of
approximately RMB37.2 million, accounting for about 7.8% of
the Group’s total turnover.

Provision of EP Related Professional Services

The Group, through its subsidiary namely Shanghai
Environmental Engineering Design & Research Institute Limited
(“SEEDRI”), provides EP-related professional services to clients.
With Grade A engineering design certificates, SEEDRI is
qualified to undertake engineering design for all environmental
projects. During the year, the segment recorded a stable
turnover of approximately RMB6.7 million, accounting for
around 1.4% of the total turnover of the Group.
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Management Discussion & Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2011, the total assets of the Group
amounted to RMB1,515.9 million, an increase of RMB72.9
million as compared with RMB1,443.0 million in 2010. Increase
in total assets was mainly due to the implementation of the new
WWCB production facilities and increase of inventories. The
Group’s total liabilities as at 31 December 2011 were RMB301.5
million, an increase of RMB64.3 million as compared with
RMB237.2 million in 2010. The main reason for the increase in
total liabilities was the increase in trade and accounts payables
and deposits received and receipt in advance. The Group’s
total equity as at 31 December 2011 was RMB1,214.5 million
(2010: RMB1,205.8 million). The Group had no bank borrowings
outstanding as at 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB9.0 million).
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB606.8
million as at 31 December 2011.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

Business transactions and liabilities of the Group are largely
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollars. The Group
adopts a conservative financial policy and the majority of its
bank deposits are in Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollars. As at 31
December 2011, the Group did not have any foreign currency
bank liability, foreign exchange contracts, interest or currency
swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purpose.
Nevertheless, the management will continue to monitor the
foreign exchange exposure and will take prudent measures as
and when appropriate. As at 31 December 2011, the Group did
not have any derivative for hedging against both the interest
rate and foreign exchange risks.
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Management Discussion & Analysis
EEENWED

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a capital expenditure
commitment in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and injection of the share capital of a subsidiary
totaling RMB149.6 million (2010: RMB91.5 million). The Group
provides product maintenance service to customers of FGD
construction projects and certain EP products for a period
ranging from 6 months to 2 years after a project is completed
or a product is delivered. At the same time, the Group enjoys
warranties for the work and equipment from its sub-contractors
and suppliers. The Directors of the Company believe that the
amount of crystallised warranty liabilities, if any, in excess of the
amount covered by the warranties given by sub-contractors and
suppliers, would not have any material adverse effect on the
overall financial position or operating results of the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had approximately 300
employees. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive
levels and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the
relevant labour market and economic situation. Remuneration of
the Directors is determined based on a variety of factors such
as market conditions and the specific responsibilities shouldered
by the individual director. Apart from the basic remuneration
and statutory benefits required by law, the Group also provides
discretionary bonuses based on its results and the performance
of the individual employee. The Group also has an employee
share option scheme in operation.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee comprising three independent
non-executive directors has been established by the Company
to review the financial reporting process and internal control
procedures of the Group. The audit committee has reviewed the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2011.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased
to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The manner in which the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) are applied and
implemented is explained in the following sections of this
Corporate Governance Report:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY

The Group acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard
shareholder interests. The Group’s corporate governance
principles emphasize on the importance of a quality Board,
effective internal controls and accountability to shareholders and
the Company has taken a proactive approach in strengthening
corporate governance practices in accordance with the needs
of its business.

The CG Code sets out the principles of good corporate
governance and two levels of corporate governance practices:

(@) code provisions which listed issuers are expected to
comply with or to give considered reasons for any
deviation; and

(b) recommended best practices for guidance only, which
listed issuers are encouraged to comply with or to give
considered reasons for any deviation.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles, code provisions and certain recommended best
practices as set out in the CG Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company
has complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code.

The Company will constantly review and enhance its corporate
governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet
the requirements of the CG Code and the rising expectations of
shareholders and investors.
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A. THE BOARD

1.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for overall management of
the Company. Its main roles are to provide leadership
and to approve strategic policies and plans with a
view to enhancing shareholder value.

All directors carry out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
at all times.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members in
total, consisting of four executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Chairman and
member of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee

Mr. Jiang Lei, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Fan Yajun

Mr. Gan Yi

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Lai Wing Lee, chairman of the
Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and member
of the Audit Committee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, chairman of the
Audit Committee and member
of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee

Professor Wang Guozhen, member of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed
in all corporate communications issued by the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to
time.
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Corporate Governance Report

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Chairman, is the sole director of
Praise Fortune Limited, the controlling shareholder
of the Company. He is the father of Mr. Jiang Lei
(being an executive director and Chief Executive
Officer), father of Mr. Jiang Xin and spouse of Ms.
Qian Yuanying, all of whom are the shareholders of
Praise Fortune Limited, the controlling shareholder
of the Company. Save as disclosed, there are no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board. A brief
description of the background of each director and
the detailed relationships among the members of
the Board are disclosed under “Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 28 to 31 and “Report of the
Directors” on pages 32 to 43.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the
Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive
director of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive directors to
be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

All directors, including independent non-executive
directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
The independent non-executive directors are invited
to serve on the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees of the Company.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are carried out by
different individuals and have been clearly defined in
writing.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
and the Chief Executive Officer is Mr. Jiang Lei.
With the support of the Company Secretary and the
senior management, the Chairman is responsible
for ensuring that the directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner
and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board
meetings. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on
implementing objectives, policies and strategies
approved and delegated by the Board and he is in
charge of the Company’s day-to-day management
and operations.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of the executive directors of the Company is
engaged on a service contract with the Company
which is renewable from year to year until terminated
by either party with 3 months’ notice in writing
served on the other side. Each of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company is appointed
under a letter of appointment until terminated by
either party with 3 months’ notice in writing served
on the other side.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, all directors of the Company are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new director appointed to fill a causal
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself for re-election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of directors are laid down
in the Company’s Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating
the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment
and succession planning of directors and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive
directors.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises four members,
the majority of them are independent non-executive
directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include:

° to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations
regarding any proposed changes;

° to develop and formulate relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors;

° to identify suitable candidates for appointment
as directors;

° to make recommendations to the Board
on appointment or re-appointment of and
succession planning for directors;

° to assess the independence of independent
non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process
of selecting and recommending candidates for
directorships by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of such individuals,
the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations. An external recruitment
agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process where necessary.

The Nomination Committee did not hold any meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2011 but one
Board meeting at which nomination related matters
were discussed was held during the year. The
meeting was attended by all Directors with Mr. Lai
Wing Lee attended via alternate.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Fan Yajun, Mr. Gan Yi and Professor
Wang Guozhen shall retire by rotation and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee recommended the
re-appointment of the directors standing for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

The Company’s circular containing detailed
information of the directors standing for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting would be
sent to the shareholders.

Training and Continuing Development

Though no new directors has been appointed during
the year ended 31 December 2011, each newly
appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The existing directors are continually updated with
legal and regulatory developments, and the business
and market changes to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and
professional development for directors will be
arranged where necessary.

Board Meetings
(i)  Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules for annual meeting and draft agenda
of each meeting are normally sent to all
directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served
to all directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Corporate Governance Report

Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are sent to
all directors/committee members at least 3
days before each Board meeting or committee
meeting to ensure that the directors have
sufficient time to review the related documents
and be adequately prepared for the meeting.
The Board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.

The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary attend all
regular Board meetings and where necessary,
other Board and committee meetings to
advise on business developments, financial
and accounting matters, statutory compliance,
corporate governance and other major aspects
of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for
taking and keeping minutes of all Board
meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final versions are open for
directors’ inspection.

The Company’s Articles of Association contains
provisions requiring directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving transactions in
which such directors or any of their associates
have a material interest. According to current
Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial
shareholder or a director, will be considered
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting.
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(i) Directors’ Attendance Records

During the year ended 31 December 2011,
four regular Board meetings were held at
approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving
the overall strategies and policies of the

Company.

The attendance records of each director at
the Board meetings during the year ended 31

December 2011 are set out below:

Name of Director

EEgs

Jiang Quanlong

Jiang Lei

Fan Yajun

Gan Vi

Lai Wing Lee

Leung Shu Sun, Sunny
Wang Guozhen

*

meetings through alternate director.

7. Model Code For Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct
regarding directors’ dealings in the Company’s
securities (the “Company’s Securities Dealing Code”)
on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the

Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors
and the directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Company’s Securities Dealing
Code and the Model Code throughout the year

ended 31 December 2011.
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Mr. Lai Wing Lee attended one of the Board
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The Company’s Securities Dealing Code on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities
transactions also applies to all employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-
sensitive information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Company’s
Securities Dealing Code by the employees was noted
by the Company.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in
all major matters of the Company, including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring
that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Each director is normally able
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to the Chief
Executive Officer and the senior management. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
prior to any significant transactions entered into by the
abovementioned officers.

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference
which are posted on the Stock Exchange website and the
Company’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The Board also has the full support of the Chief Executive
Officer and the senior management for the discharge of its
responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent
procedure for formulating policies on remuneration
of senior management of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out in note 8 to
the financial statements.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members,
the majority of them are independent non-executive
directors.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee
include:

° to make recommendations on the establishment of
procedures for developing the remuneration policy
and structure for the executive directors and the
senior management, which policy shall ensure that
no director or any of his associates will participate in
deciding his own remuneration;

° to make recommendations on the remuneration
packages of the executive directors and the senior
management;

° to review and approve the remuneration packages of
the executive directors and the senior management
by reference to the performance of the individual
and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions;

° to review and approve the compensation
arrangements for the executive directors and the
senior management.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for
collection and administration of the human resources
data and making recommendations to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration. The Remuneration
Committee shall consult with the Chairman and/or the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure
and remuneration packages.
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The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, and the
performance and remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management for the year under
review.

The Remuneration Committee did not hold any meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2011 but one Board
meeting at which remuneration related matters had been
discussed was held during the year. The meeting was
attended by all of the directors of the Company.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in
respect of Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2011.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The Management provides such explanation and
information to the Board so as to enable the Board to
make an informed assessment of the financial information
and position of the Company put to the Board for
approval.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2011. The review covered the financial,
operational, compliance and risk management aspects
of the Group including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget.
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The internal control system of the Group aims to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and
to safeguard assets of the Group. The senior management
shall review and evaluate the control process, monitors
any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the
variances and identified risks.

The Board has overall responsibility for the internal control
system of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Board is also responsible for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors (including one independent
non-executive director who possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise). None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include:

° to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function, internal auditor or external auditor
before submission to the Board;

° to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor;

o to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Audit Committee provides supervision on the internal
control system of the Group and reports to the Board on
any material issues and makes recommendations to the
Board.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee has
reviewed the Group’s annual results and annual report
for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2011, the
financial reporting and compliance procedures, the report
from the management on the Company’s internal control
and risk management review and processes and the
re-appointment of the external auditor.

The external auditor was invited to attend the meetings to
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from
the audit and financial reporting matters.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year

ended 31 December 2011 and the attendance records are
set out below:

Name of Director

EERR

Lai Wing Lee FE KA
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny st
Wang Guozhen TEHE

*

Mr. Lai Wing Lee attended one of the Audit Committee
meetings through alternate director.

TREQHRE

BERZEREEASEN AR
A YMENEREERESS
HE LRt -

REEFERN BZLZEEEH
$%@@§ T—FTF+ A=+
—BUEFEZE2FEERFERE
rHE-_ZT——FNA=Z1+HIEAX
MAMPHESE  VISERLKER
BF TEEBRARAIANBELR

BERS A MIZFF A KBRS
B R -

SNEZBEER L % HEX
B mERMMBEREEM
ELEEHE -

RBE-_ZTZ——F+_A=+—H
ﬁif EREZECBRTMAE
C BERRSRNT

i)

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

HERE SlRY

2/2*
2/2
2/2

* BXFEEBRETESHREET

—RERLZBEEH
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REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”

on pages 44 to 45.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the
remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company

is set out below:

Category of Services

BRBHER

Audit Service
Non-audit Service
— review of accounts for the period

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'’S G.

5115 4% S 6 % 43 By B EA &

ZNNCIEIN: Lo T i U e e
2 AR T4 Y =2 B E N SR 44
AEFIAEZ [BIZEAHRE
m o

BE_ZT——F+_A=+t—H81L
FE > XN TFARRBIEZBEN D

BT
Fees Paid/Payable
2 EfERa
EZARTE HK$ 1,180,000 7T
IEEAZ IR

—EHBE-_T——F

ended 30 June 2011
— review results announcement

Total ST

H. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor’s understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company also recognises
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables shareholders and

investors to make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide an
important channel for communication and exchange
of views between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee or, in their absence, other members of
the respective committees and, where applicable, the
independent Board committee, normally attend the annual
general meeting and other relevant shareholders’ meetings

to answer questions at shareholders’ meetings.
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Corporate Governance Report

The 2012 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) will be held
on 8 June 2012. The notice of AGM will be sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
AGM.

To promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at www.paep.com.cn, where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access. Investors may
write directly to the Company at its principal place of
business in Hong Kong or via email to info@paep.com.cn
for any enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed for each substantially separate
issue at shareholders’ meetings, including the election of
individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange after each shareholders’
meeting. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be
explained during the proceedings of meetings.

GOING CONCERN

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

AN A g
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, aged 59, is the Chairman of the Board
and an Executive Director of the Company. He was appointed
as Director of the Company in August 2006. He is also a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. He has nearly 15 years of experience in China’s
Environmental Protection (“EP”) industry. He is responsible for
formulating strategies guiding the Group’s overall development
and strengthening the competitive position of the Group in the
PRC’s EP market. In addition, he is the chairman and executive
director of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Jiang is the father of Mr. Jiang Lei and
also the sole director of Praise Fortune Limited, the substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Jiang Lei, aged 29, is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group and an Executive Director of the Company. He was
appointed Director of the Company in March 2007. He joined
the Group in March 2007 and is responsible for the business
development of the Group. He holds a bachelor’'s degree
in Finance from Cass Business School, London, the United
Kingdom. Mr. Jiang is the son of Mr. Jiang Quanlong.

Mr. Fan Yajun, aged 44, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed Director of the Company in
March 2007. He has more than 20 years of experience in
business management. He joined the Group in July 2002
and has been responsible for the overall administration and
business management. He completed a Master of Business
Administration course at Southeast University in July 2004. For
the period between August 1999 and August 2005, he was
an executive director of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Gan Yi, aged 56, is an Executive Director of the Company.
He was appointed Director of the Company in March 2007. He
has over 25 years of experience in environmental protection
engineering design. He was appointed as an officer of Shanghai
Environmental Engineering Design & Research Institute Limited
(“SEEDRI”) in 1995 and has served as a director of SEEDRI
since 2002. He was also the chairman and general manager of
SEEDRI from 2003 until April 2006, and was appointed the vice
general manager of SEEDRI in April 2006. He is responsible
for the daily operation and market development of SEEDRI. He
completed a security engineering course at Tongji University in
December 1988.
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Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Wing Lee, aged 72, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since
December 2007. He is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and also a
member of the Audit Committee. He has been the managing
director of Shenzhen Beishen Environmental Packaging
Development Co., Limited, which is mainly engaged in the
sales and manufacture of environmental protection packaging
products, since August 2005. He graduated from the South
China Institute of Technology (now known as South China
University of Technology) in 1965. He has over 30 years of
experience in enterprise management.

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, aged 49, has been appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
since December 2007. He is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee. He has over 20 years’ working
experience in, among other things, accounting, treasury
management, budgeting and corporate finance. He graduated
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a professional
diploma in Accountancy and obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from the University of South Australia.
He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
Certified General Accountants’ Association of Canada. From
2005 to 2007, he served as the financial controller, qualified
accountant and company secretary of Xiwang Sugar Holdings
Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. From
2001 to date, he was a director of a company providing
accounting, tax and corporate finance services. From 1999
to 2001, he held key finance position in a listed company in
Hong Kong. From 1998 to 1999, he was a finance director
of a company principally engaged in the provision of network
infrastructure solutions. From 1993 to 1998, he was the
financial controller of a company principally engaged in property
investment, trading and securities. From 1987 to 1990, he
had worked in international accounting firms, handling audit,
tax and accounting matters. Mr. Leung was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Xiwang Special Steel
Company Limited on 23 February 2012.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERENEEE

Professor Wang Guozhen, aged 76, has been appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since
December 2007. He is a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. He was
from 1994 to 2005, a member of the Rare Earth Expert Group
of China State Planning and Development Commission, and
the team leader of the Industry Division. He graduated from
the Department of Chemical Engineering of Tianjin University
with a major in physical chemistry of metals. He is a member of
the expert group and an adviser of the Environment Protection
Specialist Commission. He has been an independent director of
the State-owned Gansu Rare Earth Group Co., Ltd. since 2005.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent, aged 38, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of the Company. He joined the
Group in March 2007 and is responsible for the corporate
finance function of the Group, and oversees matter related
to financial administration, and the compliance and reporting
obligations of the Group. Mr. Wan has 15 years’ experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Wan has worked for a company listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange, as its financial controller from 2005
to 2007. Mr. Wan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wan holds a Bachelor of
Arts degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.

Mr. Fu Kun, aged 45, has over 20 years of experience in
project management of engineering design. He served as a vice
general manager of SEEDRI since April 2006. Before joining
the Group, he was the vice general manager of Shanghai
Gongcheng. He is responsible for project management of
environmental protection engineering design. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from Asia International Open
University, Macau.

Mr. Huang Wei, aged 28, is the vice general manager of
Wuxi Pan-Asia. He has about 8 years of experience in EP
technology. He joined the Group in 2010 and is responsible for
wood wool cement board division. Before joining the Group, he
was a technical manager of Jiangsu Yuansheng Environmental
Protection Equipment Co, Limited. He graduated from Xuzhou
Normal University, majoring in computer numerical control
machining technology.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chen Liangping, aged 63, is the vice general manager
of Wuxi Pan-Asia. He has over 20 years of experience in
equipment manufacturing and production management. He
joined the Group in 2006 and is responsible for the management
of the daily production of the Group. Before joining the Group,
he was a vice general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing
Refractory Materials Company Limited, a subsidiary under China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wu Xijun, aged 38, is the head of the internal audit
department of the Group. He has about 9 years of experience
in financial management. He joined the Group in February
2011 and is responsible for the internal audit of the Group’s
enterprises in the PRC. Before joining the Group, he was a
finance manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
Company Limited. He graduated from The Open University of
China, majoring in accountancy.

Ms. Xu Yiyun, aged 34, is the head of the finance department
of Wuxi Pan-Asia. Ms. Xu has about 10 years of experience in
financial management and corporate accounting in the PRC.
She joined the Group in October 2000. Ms. Xu graduated from
Suzhou University, majoring in accountancy.

Mr. Shen Mingming, aged 56, is the manager of the
administration and human resource department of Wuxi
Pan-Asia. He joined the Group in 2010 and is responsible
for the daily management of the Group’s human resource,
administration and logistics services. Before joining the Group,
he worked as deputy general director in Investment Invitation
Bureau of Yixing, the PRC. He graduated from Jiangsu Radio
and TV University majoring in industrial economy management.

Mr. Tang Weiqing, aged 48, the vice general manager of
SEEDRI. He has over 20 years of experience in environmental
protection engineering design. He joined SEEDRI in 2003 and
is responsible for the overall project engineering design of
SEEDRI. He graduated from Shanghai University of Technology
with a major in analytical chemistry.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) submit
their annual report together with the audited financial
statements of Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has
its principal place of business in the PRC at No. 1 Chuanshan
Road, Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, PRC
214222 and its principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 6302, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sale of pipes, water
treatment and flue gas treatment products and equipment,
as well as undertaking of environmental protection (“EP”)
construction engineering projects, provision of EP related
professional services and manufacture of EP construction
materials.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BARP

Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEET
The largest supplier BAHER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR R RET

None of the Directors, their associates (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2011 and the state of the Company’s and the
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 46 to 50.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Profits attributable to equity holders of the Company, before
dividends, of RMB9,520,000 (2010: RMB76,277,000) have
been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are
set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2011, the distributable reserve of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB772,702,000 (2010:
RMB781,256,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the financial year are set out in note 27 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Lei (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fan Yajun

Mr. Gan Yi

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

MEBRE

AEBREBEE_T——F+_A=+—ALH
BEEZBEMNEARNRREAEERZE 2R
BRI EIRKFEI6EFS0E ©

CIR g 31 ]
ANRIREFEABGLEREN GREBRE) B
AR 9520000 (ZE—2F: AR
76,277,00070) B EBEEFEE o  FHEcHMmE
BE R I IS IRER M 5E28 -
BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—BItFEE AR
ARl DB EE RN A ARET72,702,0007T (=
T—TF : ARK781,256,0007T) °

W% - BB RxiE

AEEME  BELRSEZEHFBIRTE
WARMFE14 -

B &

ARNRBRARTBRFEERNZ EBFBHRTB
MR FE27 -

Be

EEFISENAEE Z AP REMF22 -

EF
RUBFENZERS :

BITES
BRERL (TE)
BEEL (fTHAa)
SEERERE
HEELE

Annual Report 2011 ¢« —&F — —FF 3§

33



34

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

Professor Wang Guozhen

Mr. Fan Yajun and Mr. Gan Yi retire from the offices as executive
Directors and Professor Wang Guozhen retires from the office
as independent non-executive Director at the forthcoming
annual general meeting in accordance with article 108(A) of the
articles of association and all retiring directors, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the information disclosed in “Related Party
Transactions” in note 32 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
holding companies, or any of their subsidiaries was a party,
in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) T~
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies were as follows:

R=ZZE—F+=ZA=+—H8 AQARAEEK
THRBER AR REBEEZE (EEREH
REEIEBIEXVER) 2R Hm ~ BERG HEH
FEAATHR AR RIRIEFESF R EIRGE
E2MERIEFZ B MMARIE EM AR EFTHELT
BHEZXPHRETUNENERRARREEHE
REHMAERRR ([BRA]) 2#ws kAR

(@) Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company (@) REXTRGREBERG2ER
Equity Percentage
derivatives of issued
Number of (share option) share capital
Name of Director Nature of interest shares held BEFFFEIR HERTT
EEpR EEHE SHREO#E (RERRIE) BEESL
(Note 1)  (Notes 1 and 5)
(HiaE1) (Btet1k5)
Jiang Quanlong Corporate interest 600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
BREE EE RS (Notes 2 and 4)
(Hiat2R4)
Beneficial interest 400,000 (L) 0.05%
oy T
Jiang Lei Corporate interest 600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
B EEE (Notes 3 and 4)
(K15#3K4)
Beneficial interest 400,000 (L) 0.05%
BEatEsn
Fan Yajun Beneficial interest 2,500,000 (L) 0.3125%
BIE ey T
Gan Yi Beneficial interest 1,000,000 (L) 0.125%
HR EamEm
Lai Wing Lee Beneficial interest 500,000 (L) 0.0625%
FE K A BEamEnm
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny Beneficial interest 500,000 (L) 0.0625%
RiaEh EmEn
Wang Guozhen Beneficial interest 500,000 (L) 0.0625%

TEHZ
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(b) Interests in shares of the associated corporation of the

(b) RARAEBEERG R

Company
Percentage
of the issued
share capital
of the
associated
Name of Number of corporation
associated shares {E4EBGER
Name of Director Nature of Interest corporation interested BRITERE
EERR EREH HEEEEE RAEROHE B
(Note 1)
(Htst1)
Jiang Lei Beneficial interest Praise Fortune 300 (L) 49.92%
B& B Limited
Notes: Bt -
1. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares/ 1. FHILIRRESFARG EERGZ

underlying shares.

2. These 600,000,000 shares are registered in the name of and
beneficially owned by Praise Fortune Limited. Mr. Jiang Quanlong
is the sole director of Praise Fortune Limited and he is deemed to
be interested in all the shares in which Praise Fortune Limited is
interested by virtue of the SFO.

3t These 600,000,000 shares are registered in the name of and
beneficially owned by Praise Fortune Limited, the entire issued
share capital of which is beneficially owned as to approximately
49.9%, 49.9% and 0.2% by Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Jiang Xin and
Ms. Qian Yuanying respectively. Under the SFO, Mr. Jiang Lei is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Praise Fortune
Limited.

4. The total number of issued shares in Praise Fortune Limited as
at 31 December 2011 is 601 shares of US$1 each. These 601
shares are owned as to 300 shares by Mr. Jiang Lei (an executive
Director), as to 300 shares by Mr. Jiang Xin and as to 1 share by
Ms. Qian Yuanying. The sole director of Praise Fortune Limited is
Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive Director and Ms. Qian Yuanying
is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong.

5. These interests represent the interests in underlying shares
in respect of share options granted by the Company to these
directors as beneficial owners, the details of which are set out in
the Share Option Scheme section stated below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, so far as
is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company,
neither the Directors nor the chief executive had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), details of which are set out in Note 29 to the
financial statements. Details of the share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and their movements during the year

ended 31 December 2011 are as follows:

Jiang Quanlong
KR

Jiang Lei

¥

Fan Yajun
BHE

Gan Yi

R

Lai Wing Lee
RBoKH

Leung Shu Sun, Sunny
REH

Wang Guozhen
I8Y

Gontinuous contract
employees

REAHEER

Note: 1,000,000 share options lapsed due to resignation of senior

Date of
Grant
RHAMY

14/5/2008

14/5/2008

14/5/2008

14/5/2008

14/5/2008

14/5/2008

14/5/2008

14/5/2008

Exercise
Price
|
HKD
BT
2.81
2.81
2.81
2.81
2.81
2.81

2.81

2.81

Vesting
Period

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

14/5/2008 to
13/5/2009

Exercisable
Period

TR

14/5/2009 to
13/5/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/5/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/6/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/6/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/5/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/5/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/5/2018

14/5/2009 to
13/6/2018

management during the year ended 31 December 2011.
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Ris B #2512

AA TR —ERA AR B (B RIR A
B))) - SEEIR YIS BRAM 20 - BRI
RS BIE I 2 B AR 7 S R AR S
R-F——F+—A=+—AILFELE

BEDIANT
Number of Share Options
BRiERE

Exercised/

Cancelled/

Lapsed
during the As at
As at Granted year 31/12/2011
1/1/2011 during RER »®
® the year BifE/ ZB——%
—2——f RER BE#/ +=A
—-A—-H 2 RE S =t+-H
400,000 - - 400,000
400,000 - - 400,000
2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
500,000 - - 500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
500,000 - - 500,000
12,000,000 - (1,000,000) 11,000,000

(Note)

(Hizt)
17,800,000 - (1,000,000) 16,800,000

(Note)

(Hit)

Kiit RBE-_Z—F+_-_A=+—RAL#F
€ 1,000,000 ERIEASHREEZAE
BT & 2R3 o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the directors and chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December 2011, the following persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive officer of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, which were recorded in the

F R A LT B 7 B 48 B AR
fzERRRE

register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336

of the SFO:

Interest in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name

1

Praise Fortune Limited (Note 2)
Praise Fortune Limited (##:72)

Mr. Jiang Xin (Note 3)
BE&LE (f1723)

Ms. Qian Yuanying (Note 4)
LR Lt (fifzta)

Ms. Li Jingru (Note 5)
FEmzt (o)

Ms. Chai Yongping (Note 6)
SesE it (ffite)
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Nature of interest

EanR

Beneficial interest
ey

Interest of a controlled corporation
BN 3

Interest of spouse
[y

Interest of spouse
fldiEs

Interest of spouse
ffEhEs

Interest of spouse

[[oa

Interest of spouse

BB

R-TB——F+-_A=+—8 BAQFRES
RITBABHAA » THAL (RRARESHIT
BB F bR AN AR R Z B9 SAB B AR 10 1
BERBRSF RBE GO EXVEFE2R3HEBZ
B MARAEFENALEN AR AIREES
MEE GG EIBCETFE 2 ELMAZ K

e
RAERAT R REBERG 2 &R
Approximate
Equity percentage of
derivatives total number of
Number of (share option) issued shares
shares held BEFTEIR HERTRAEE
FrisRkin 8 B (RaBeE) Z@#Hhaaskt
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(K1) (Bat1)
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
400,000 (L) 0.05%
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
600,000,000 (L) 75.00%
400,000 (L) 0.05%



Notes:

1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares/
underlying shares.

2. The total number of issued shares in Praise Fortune Limited as
at 31 December 2011 is 601 shares of US$1 each. These 601
shares are owned as to 300 shares by Mr. Jiang Lei (an executive
Director), as to 300 shares by Mr. Jiang Xin and as to 1 share by
Ms. Qian Yuanying. The sole director of Praise Fortune Limited is
Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive Director.

3. These Shares are registered in the name of and beneficially
owned by Praise Fortune Limited, the entire issued share capital
of which is beneficially owned as to approximately 49.9%, 49.9%
and 0.2% by Mr. Jiang Lei, Mr. Jiang Xin and Ms. Qian Yuanying
respectively. Under the SFO, Mr. Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Praise Fortune
Limited.

4. Ms. Qian Yuanying is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong and is
therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr.
Jiang Quanlong is deemed to be interested.

5. Ms. Li Jingru is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Xin and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Xin is
deemed to be interested.

6. Ms. Chai Yongping is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Lei and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Lei is
deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the
Company has not been notified by any person (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed share during the year
ended 31 December 2011.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 8, 19, 23, 24 and 32 to the financial
statements, no contract of significance to which the Company,
or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, subsisted at the end of the financial year or at
any time during the financial year.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

Non-Competition Undertaking

Under the restrictive covenants of a share purchase agreement
dated 1 December 2007 executed among (i) YY Holdings as
vendor, (i) Praise Fortune Limited, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Ms.
Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin as covenantors,
and (i) the Company as the purchaser, each of Praise Fortune
Limited, Ms. Qian Yuanying, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Mr. Jiang
Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin (collectively the “Covenantors”) has
undertaken that he/she/it will not and shall procure his/her/its
Associates will not:

(@) at any time disclose to any person, or himself/herself/
itself use for any purpose, and shall use his/her/its best
endeavours to prevent the publication or disclosure of, any
information concerning the business, accounts or finances
of any Group company, or any of its clients’, suppliers’
or customers’ transactions or affairs, which may, or may
have, come to his/her/its knowledge;

(b) at any time during which the Company is listed on
the Stock Exchange and for so long as each of the
Covenantors and their respective associates collectively
hold, whether individually or taken together, 30% or more
of the issued Shares or is regarded as the controlling
shareholder(s) of the Company under the Listing Rules
or for a period of two years from the date of the Listing,
whichever is the longest period of time:

(i) directly or indirectly solicit, interfere with, employ or
endeavour to entice away from any Group company
with a view to competing with the Group any
person who, to his/her/its knowledge, is now, or
has during the 12 months preceding the date of the
share purchase agreement been, a client, customer,
supplier or employee of, or has been in the habit of
dealing with, any Group company;
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(i) at any time use the name or trading style of any
Group company, or any trademarks or logos or
device similar in appearance to any trademarks, in
the PRC, Hong Kong or any other part of the world,
or represent himself as carrying on or continuing
or being connected with any Group company or its
business for any purposes whatsoever; and/or

(i)  directly or indirectly carry on or be engaged or
concerned or interested in the businesses of (i)
the production of water treatment and flue gas
treatment and solid waste treatment equipment and
components and pipes; (ii) the sale and installation
of water treatment and flue gas treatment and solid
waste treatment equipment and pipes; and (iii) the
contracting of water treatment and flue gas treatment
and solid waste treatment projects, being the current
principal businesses of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed that he/she/it is not
currently engaged in any business, which directly or indirectly
competes or may compete with the Group’s business.

Each of the Covenantors has undertaken in favour of the
Company under the share purchase agreement to procure the
provision to the Company of all information necessary for the
enforcement of the above undertaking. Each of the Covenantors
further undertakes in favour of the Company to make a
statement in the annual report of the Company confirming
compliance by it and its affiliates with the terms of the non-
competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement.
The Company will disclose in its annual reports on how the
undertakings in the share purchase agreement are complied
with and enforced in accordance with the principles of making
voluntary disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report as
defined in Appendix 23 of the Listing Rules.

Benxi Fanya Environmental Heat & Power Co., Ltd. (“Benxi
Fanya”) is owned as to 80% by Asia Global Tech Group Limited
(“AGT (HK)”), and as to 20% by an Independent Third Party.
AGT (HK) is beneficially owned as to 60%, 20% and 20% by
Ms. Qian Yuanying (the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong), Mr.
Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin (both of whom are sons of Mr.
Jiang Quanlong) respectively. The permitted business scope
on the business licence of Benxi Fanya includes, among
others, research and consultation of environmental protection
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technology, and design of EP engineering. As at the date of
this annual report, Benxi Fanya was principally engaged in
generating electricity and heat, and did not engage or interest
in any businesses which compete with the current principal
businesses of the Group. Jiangsu Tianyuan Technologies
Limited (“Jiangsu Tianyuan”) is owned by the associates of Mr.
Fang Guohong, a former executive Director of the Company
who resigned on 25 March 2009. The permitted business
scope on the business licence of Jiangsu Tianyuan includes,
among others, research and development of denitrification EP
equipment and technology, manufacture of FGD EP equipment,
desulphurization absorption tower and flue glass flake
anticorrosive material and denitrification EP equipment. As at
the date of this annual report, Jiangsu Tianyuan was principally
engaged in the business of producing thermal insulation
components, and did not engage or interest in any businesses
which compete with the current principal businesses of the
Group. The permitted scope of business of each of Benxi Fanya
and Jiangsu Tianyuan is relatively wide, but it is not unusual for
a corporate entity to provide for a broader scope of business
in its corporate documents to allow for flexibility. At present,
neither Benxi Fanya nor Jiangsu Tianyuan has any plan to
vary their respective business licences to exclude or alter the
permitted activities as set out therein.

Mr. Jiang Quanlong is also the chairman and one of the
executive directors of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
(“CRE”), a company whose securities are listed on the Main
Board. CRE and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
manufacturing and sales of rare earth products and refractory
products. As the Group’s principal business is to provide
integrated EP solutions in areas such as water and flue gas
treatments, the current principal businesses of the Group and
those of CRE and its subsidiaries do not compete with each
other.

Under the restrictive covenants of several service agreements
dated 1 December 2007 between the Company and each of the
executive Directors, the executive Directors gave undertakings
similar to the wordings stated in paragraph (b) above of the said
share purchase agreement.

The independent non-executive Directors shall review, at least
on an annual basis, the compliance with the non-competition
undertaking by each of such persons on their existing or future
competing business and the Company shall disclose the result
of such review either through the annual report of the Company,
or by way of announcement to the public.
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As the controlling shareholders (namely, Praise Fortune Limited,
Mr. Jiang Lei and Mr. Jiang Xin) and Mr. Jiang Quanlong as sole
director of Praise Fortune Limited have given non-competition
undertakings in favour of the Company and none of them has
interests in other business that compete or are likely to compete
with the business of the Group, the management and operation
of the operating entities are independent from each other, the
Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying
on its business independently of the controlling Shareholders.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 144 of
the annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The retirement schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries are
primarily in form of contributions to the Hong Kong mandatory
provident fund and China statutory public welfare fund.
Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in note 7 to
the financial statements.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders (“Shareholders”) of the Company are unsure
about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the
shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by CCIF CPA Limited. CCIF CPA Limited will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of CCIF CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board
Jiang Quanlong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012

Report of the Directors
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR R E S

®

CCIF

CCIF CPA LIMITED

34/F The Lee Gardens
33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF PAN ASIA ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
46 to 143, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2012

Kwok Cheuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P02412
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEZHEHWEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE—T —F+t-_A=t—RALFE

TURNOVER
Cost of sales

GROSS PROFIT

Other revenue

Other net income/(loss)

Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Income tax expenses

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive for income the year
(after tax and reclassification
adjustments)

Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements of foreign
operation

Other comprehensive income for
the year, net of tax

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE
- Basic and diluted

The notes on pages 51 to 143 form
statements.
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part of these financial

Note
BT

~

5a)

(€]

12

2011 2010
25 —ET-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
476,026 646,708
(415,981) (504,022)
60,045 142,686
5,404 3,769
2,169 (1,415)
(1,503) (673)
(42,520) (32,065)
(3,072) (1,281)
(537) (367)
19,986 110,654
(11,162) (35,999)
8,824 74,655
(175) (753)
(175) (753)
8,649 73,902
9,520 76,277
(696) (1,622)
8,824 74,655
9,345 75,524
(696) (1,622)
8,649 73,902

RMB1.19 cents
AR¥1.19%

RMB9.53 cents
AR#9.53%




NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Prepaid lease payment BNHEHE

Property, plant and equipment ~ #1% - BE kikfE
Available-for-sale financial asset ~ AJftHE S FEAE

Investments in subsidiaries KB AR ZRE
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepaid lease payment BNAERE
Inventories FE
Trade and other receivables JEWE 5 R H fh 2 E
Pledged bank deposits BHEARITER
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHES
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEAR
Trade and other payables BN E 5 R E A TE
Short-term bank loan REIRITER
Deposits received and receipts B4k 4 RIEYH
in advance
Tax payable TR
NET CURRENT ASSETS RHEESRE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEBERTHAR
CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3ExBI&E
Deferred tax liabilities ELHEEE
NET ASSETS BEBE

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BER iR
Share capital e
Reserves e

Equity attributable to owners FAFHEA
of the Company ElLEa
Non-controlling interests FRRES

TOTAL EQUITY #gaea

Statements of Financial Position

Rt B R 0 R

As at 31 December 2011
RZE—F+=A=+—H

The Group The Company
*5E /N

2011 2010 2011 2010
—2——f —T-TF —2——5 —T-%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
P& AR%TR ARETT AR®TR ARETT
8 40,596 6,576 - -
14 252,094 175,881 106 197
15 9,000 6,850 - -
16 - - 530,201 381,537
301,690 189,307 530,307 381,734
13 850 169 - -
17 81,156 33,750 - -
18 514,365 529,803 284,456 438,039
31 11,060 4,500 - -
20 606,815 685,503 5,393 6,475
1,214,246 1,253,725 289,849 444 514
21 101,663 109,703 1,041 1,066
22 - 9,000 - -
178,256 92,448 - =
26a) 14,977 21,204 - -
294,896 232,355 1,041 1,066
919,350 1,021,370 288,808 443,448
1,221,040 1,210,677 819,115 825,182
26b) 6,566 4,852 - -
1,214,474 1,205,825 819,115 825,182
27 74,872 74,872 74,872 74,872
28 1,139,554 1,130,209 744,243 750,310
1,214,426 1,205,081 819,115 825,182
48 744 - -
1,214,474 1,205,825 819,115 825,182

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on KEFeN _ T —F_A=1+HHLAER

30 March 2012

AT

Jiang Quanlong BReE Jiang Lei BE

Director

Director EZ

The notes on pages 51 to 143 form part of these financial FE51BEEF143B 2B BHRE 2

statements.

— 815 -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

S A 5B 3L i
v =3 *E ﬁ @ Eb i%
For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-T——F+-A=1t—BLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company
FORNEARLE

Enterprise  Statutory Share Non-
Share Share  Special  Capital expansion  surplus Translation ~ option Retained controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subtotal interests equity
fREE  ERER 1] R #&
R BHER RHERE RARE 1] i ERER B RERN it e 1]
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'0O0 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETn ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note 28()) ~ (Note 28} (Note 28(ii)  (Note 28(v))  (Note 28(v) (Note 28(vi) (Note 28(vi)
(Wiskosy))  (Fiskos(i) (Pfsos) (Hskos) (Bikosy)) (Hskosin) (ko)
1 January 2010 “5-%5-f-A TART2 41909 94225 183 40149 49422 (6543 13841 472,133 1,157 .461 2,366 1,159,827
Profit for the year ERatl = = - - - - - - 767 16277 (162 7465
Other comprehensive income - 2 AU & - - - - - - (753) - - (753 - (753)
Total comprehensive income 2 AN S = - - - - - (793) - 18217 7554 (1622 73902
Dividends approved in BHELFE RS
respect of previous year  HET1(b)
note 11(b) - - - - - - - - T4 (21,904) - (7904
Transfer o reserves BRERE = - - - 546 54% - - (1083 - - -
At 31 December 2010and R -F-5&
1 January 2011 t-A=1-H
R-E——%-B-F 748712 419229 94225 183 45575 54848 (7296 13841 509654 1,205,081 744 1,205,825
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - - - 9,520 9,520 (6%6) 8,824
Other comprehensive income 2t 2 AW - - - - - - (175) - - (175) - (175)
Total comprehensive income 2 E A - - - - - - (175) - 9,520 9,345 (69%) 8,649
Transfer to retained profits ~ INEMEAAER
upon lapse of share options ~ ZREE| - - - - - - - (178) 8 - - -
Transfer {o reserves ERERE - - - - 820 820 - - (1,640) - - -
At 31 December 2011 R_Z——F
t-A=1-H 74872 419229 94225 133 46305 55068  (7471) 13063 518312 121442 48 1214474

The notes on pages 51 to 143 form part of these financial

statements.

—&BfD e
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Operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment
Depreciation
Dividend income from available-for-sale
financial asset

Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payment

Impairment loss on trade receivables
Interest expenses
Interest income
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Reversal of impairment loss
on trade receivables

Changes in working capital

Increase in inventories

Decrease in trade and
other receivables

Decrease in trade and
other payables

Increase in deposits received and receipts
in advance

Cash generated from operations

PRC enterprises income tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Payments for acquisition of prepaid
lease payment

Proceeds from disposal of
prepaid lease payment

BEED

BR A& K

HE
BHENEER
e
ARLESREEY
BEMA

HERNBERE Wt
FEWE 5508 2 BIERTE
FMERX

ST ON
HEDE - BER

R EE
BREHTIRZ

BEE R

ISR
FRI

RS REMRE
2
EHESREMRE
2

Bie REAHE

BEXBEEZRS

ENPRERMEH

BERBEEZ
B&RH

REED

BWFIE
WA EFURN K

HEBNBAEFERBHE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= o~ —1
FmERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

2011 2010
2% —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
19,986 110,654
518 169

9,755 5,417
(2,150) -
(6,340) -

- 94

537 367
(3,061) (3,738)
3,882 -

(80) -
23,047 112,963
(47,406) (795)
21,618 11,095
(7,621) (31,265)
85,808 23,035
75,446 115,033
(15,675) (29,665)
59,771 85,368
3,061 3,738
(39,550) -
10,671 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

Payments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits

WENE - BER
RIBHH
BERRTFR (£10),/ R

Net cash used in BEEEBFRA
investing activities ZE&BH
Financing activities mEE
Interest paid BEAFE
Repayment of short-term bank loan BHIRITERER

Proceeds from short-term bank loan S HRITE RS 5B

Payment of dividend RS
Net cash used in financing activities RETHRACRSH
Net decrease in cash and cash *EEHRERERAAE
equivalent for the year HEHRDBRE
Cash and bank balances FMZRaRBITHEER

at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net IEEFEEZEERH

Cash and bank balances at end of year FRZHASRBITHEES

Analysis of the balance of cash and HeRERARLER
cash equivalents BESH

Cash and bank balances R RIBITHER

The notes on pages 51 to 143 form part of these financial

statements.
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2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFT
(96,374) (133,345)
(6,560) 26,980
(128,752) (102,627)
(537) (367)
(9,000) (16,478)
- 9,000
- (27,904)
(9,537) (35,749)
(78,518) (53,008)
685,503 739,266
(170) (755)
606,815 685,503
606,815 685,503

FOVEEF143AZMEBAMBRKRZ
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Notes to the Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and
Suite 6302, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong, respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of
environmental protection (“EP”) products and equipment,
undertaking EP construction engineering projects, provision
of EP related professional services and manufacture of EP
construction materials in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and investment holding.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group and the Company. Note 3 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

S 755 R 3R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2011 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for certain financial instruments, which
are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of polices and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the
financial statements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 37.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at their proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with notes 2(k) or (I) depending on the
nature of the liability.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R 2R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 2(d)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(g)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for
investments in equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless fair
value can be more reliably estimated using valuation
techniques whose variables include only data from
observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

Investments in securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out in note 2(q).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised
in the statement of financial position at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(g)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any
of the above categories are classified as available-
for-sale securities. At the end of each reporting
period the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity. Dividend income from these investments
is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with
the policy set out in note 2(g) and, where these
investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in
note 2(qg). When these investments are derecognised
or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group and/or the
Company commits to purchase/sell the investment
or they expire.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 755 R 3R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss (see note 2(g)).

Property under construction is carried at cost less
impairment losses and includes all development
expenditure and other direct costs attributable
to such projects. They are not depreciated until
completion of construction and the assets are
ready for their intended use. Cost of completed
construction work is transferred to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-
line method, over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Over the shorter of the term
of the lease or 20 years
20% p.a.

Buildings

Furniture, fixtures
and equipment

Leasehold improvements 20%-100% p.a.

Motor vehicles 20% p.a.
Molding 100% p.a.
Plant and machineries 10% p.a.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f)

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a
series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the
Group determines that the arrangement conveys a
right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed
period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement
and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease.

i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as being held under finance leases. Leases
which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are
classified as operating leases, except for land
held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease,
in which case it is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease. For
these purposes, the inception of the lease is
the time that the lease was first entered into
by the Group, or taken over from the previous
lessee.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R 3R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Leased assets (Continued)
ii)  Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under
operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an
operating lease is amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease term
except where the property is classified as an
investment property, if any.

g) Impairment of assets

i) Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that
are stated at cost or amortised cost or are
classified as available-for-sale financial assets
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

= significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (Continued)

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment
loss is determined and recognised as follows:

— For investments in subsidiaries, the
impairment loss is measured by
comparing the recoverable amount of
the investment with its carrying amount
in accordance with note 2 (g)(ii). The
impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount
in accordance with note 2 (g)(ii).

— For unlisted equity securities carried
at cost, impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect of
discounting is material. Impairment losses
for equity securities carried at cost are not
reversed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R 3R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued)

i) Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (Continued)

- For trade receivables and other financial
assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets
share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future
cash flows for financial assets which are
assessed for impairment collectively are
based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics
similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decrease and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEEBEK ()

(Continued)

g EERE (&)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued)

WA EHREREAMIE

i) Impairment of investments in equity securities i)

and other receivables (Continued)

- For available-for-sale financial assets, the
cumulative loss that has been recognised
in the fair value reserve is reclassified
to profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that is recognised in
profit or loss is the difference between
the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current
fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit
or loss in respect of available-for-sale
financial assets are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in
the fair value of such assets is recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables, whose recovery
is considered doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade receivables directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued)
i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts, if

any);

- investments in subsidiaries; and

- prepaid lease payment.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs to sell
and value-in-use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e., a cash-generating
unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

FEEBE (8)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued) 9) XERE (&)
ii)  Impairment of other assets (Continued) i EMEERE (&)
Recognition of impairment losses -  ERREEIRE
An impairment loss is recognised in profit & ESEFTE 2
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, HeELEBEMNZEK
or the cash-generating unit to which it [ {E 8 1 H 7] Yz =l

belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect

28 AIREBEEA
FERBERR - 5

of cash-generating units are allocated e EEEMER
first to reduce the carrying amount of any ZREREE B
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating e TRLRE

unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce
the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or

EEEM(K—4
B ESRZ
EEEREE -
H1& BREL OB D
B (H—#E6)
HibEEZKRME

value-in-use, if determinable. B EEEREE
FERLERERRE
RN &z A FER S
EXARKFEAEE
(BREETE) ©
Reversals of impairment losses - BELREESRE
An impairment loss is reversed if there has sl FA LA 8 7€ AT W =
been a favourable change in the estimates HEIEFTERE
used to determine the recoverable FlwE gt - B 4 ER
amount. B8 o
A reversal of an impairment loss is R E B B E R
limited to the asset’s carrying amount R @EFEL
that would have been determined had no RIER B EEE
impairment loss been recognised in prior EECEEZERRA
years. Reversals of impairment losses B - BERERIE
are credited to profit or loss in the year in TR ER BB 2 F

which the reversals are recognised.

RPN EE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R 3R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Impairment of assets (Continued)

iii)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of available-for-sale financial
assets and unlisted equity securities carried at
cost are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period
relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an
available-for-sale financial asset increases in the
remainder of the annual period, or in any other
period subsequently, the increase is recognised
in other comprehensive income and not profit
or loss.

h) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted-average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, cost of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

h)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are contracts specifically
negotiated with a customer for the construction of
an asset or a group of assets, where the customer
is able to specify the major structural elements
of the design. The accounting policy for contract
revenue is set out in note 2(q). When the outcome
of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract
at the end of the reporting period. When it is
probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised
as an expense immediately. Where the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Construction contracts in progress at the end of
the reporting period are recorded at the net amount
of costs incurred plus recognised profits less
recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the statement of financial position as
the “Amount due from customers for contract work”
(as an asset) or the “Amounts due to customers for
contract work” (as a liability), as applicable. Progress
billings not yet paid by the customer are included
under “Trade and other receivables”. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are
presented as “Deposits received and receipts in
advance”.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)}

k)

m)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance
for impairment of doubtful debts, except where
the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In
such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note

2(9)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings, using the
effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Employee benefits

i)

ii)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model,
taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the options, the total estimated fair value of
the options is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Employee benefits (Continued)

ii)

iii)

Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to
profit or loss for the year under review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve. On
vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and
only when, the Group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide
benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy
by having a detail formal plan which is without
realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

Income Tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided that those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary differences
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods,
in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

Income Tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

Income Tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities
on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

2. FEETRE (W)

0)

Frest (&)

B A7 TR 45 SR AR SE AR TR A5 2R
RESBEELEEIR AT
TR - A IR E E BT
MREERGHEARARAE
B8 & A ] o8 il 31T 4 I ARD
B HREBEERFENHAMEG
HIARER - WARFSNUTH
IR ZBERT - 72 R
sHEVH B E R R AR ¢

- HNHPRBAEEREE:
AR B KA KB &R
FEALESLE  HFAF
BRZEENBEZA
RN

- ELEHRBEEMEE:
HEEERBBLKASR
Rl — BB 5L oA N E
T-EBEZRERE
28 :

- RA-ERREE:
%

- THRHZERHRE
B ZTEREEY
ER®ESEEFTA
RBREHRIEBE
FEBEIKREE
FERLIA B B A A
Bl HIFEA - 2%
MEETRAEH
HEERBEN
BIEEE KA
HHZEENBE
ZAfE -

Annual Report 2011 ¢ —&F——FF 3§

71



72

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R 2R B =

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

P)

q)

Provision and contingencies liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit
or loss as follows:

(i)  Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are
delivered and the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred. Revenue
from sales of goods excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of
any trade discount and returns.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Contract revenue

When the outcome of a construction contract
can be estimated reliably, revenue from a
fixed price contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the percentage of contract
costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract.

When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.

Render of services

Revenue from professional services is
recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholders’ rights to
receive payment have been established.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”) as a majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising
from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge
a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless the exchange rates fluctuated significantly
during the period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Statement
of financial position items are translated into RMB at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation
reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s)

t)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
assets which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.

Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

i has control or joint control over the
Group;

ii. has significant influence over the Group;
or

ii. is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i The entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1) Related parties (Continued)

b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

ii. One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which
the other entity is a member).

iii. Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

iv.  One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

V. The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

vi.  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

vii. A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

u)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
Chairman of the board of directors, who is the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”) for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical location.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

S 755 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Of these, the
following new and revised HKFRSs are relevant to the
Group’s financial statements:

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs
(Amendments) issued in 2010
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14
(Amendments)

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement
HK(IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments

The Group has not applied any new and revised HKFRSs
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

The amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 have had no material
impact on the Group’s financial statements as they were
consistent with the policies already adopted by the Group.
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 has not yet had a material impact on the
Group’s financial statements as these changes will first
be effective as and when the Group enters into a relevant
transaction.

The impacts of other developments are discussed below:

HKAS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of a
related party. As a result, the Group has re-assessed the
identification of related parties and concluded that the
revised definition does not have any material impact on
the Group’s related party disclosures in the current and
previous period. HKAS 24 (revised 2009) also introduces
modified disclosure requirements for government-related
entities. This does not impact the Group because no entity
within the Group is a government-related entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The impacts of other developments are discussed below:
(Continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs (20710) omnibus standard
introduces a number of amendments to the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures. The disclosures about the Group’s financial
instruments in notes 22 and 36 have conformed to the
amended disclosure requirements. These amendments
do not have any material impact on the classification,
recognition and measurements of the amounts recognised
in the financial statements in the current and previous
periods.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

B BREE (8)
HsBRIERTHEMT - ()

(BB B 75 3 2 2 Rl 89 20 #(2010))
RETHETHE B BT R REER
FBIR(@M T A BE) VBT -
Moo k3B MASBE R T ER
WECKEBTEIINEEEX -

B LS AT R S AR HA R R A 1 HA R
PR RABERESENDE - BR

MAEEEERTE -

TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER EXT HtuARHMS
NET INCOME/(LOSS) e (EHR)
2011 2010
—2—% —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARET T
Turnover 4]
Turnover represents the net amounts B AKNE B HEE R
received and receivable for goods MIEREE HWALA K
sold and revenue from construction REREMEEZ
contracts and rendering of services B Wk IE K e U 3k IEF R
by the Group
Sales of EP products and equipment  BRER&KEREZIEE 432,167 627,897
Revenue from EP construction RERRERIREZWA
engineering projects 37,193 13,114
Revenue from EP related R B IRIRIAREE 2 AR T 2 A
professional services 6,666 5,697
476,026 646,708
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-T——F+-A=1t—HLEE

4. TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER 4. EXT HMEARHME
NET INCOME/(LOSS) (Continued) s (EBiE) (#8)
2011 2010
—Eg—%f T —EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AREET T
Other revenue Haalg A
Interest income on bank deposits RITHE A B WA 3,061 3,738
Total interest income on financial WIER A FEREZ AR
assets not at fair value through ZEMEEZ
profit or loss B A B 5E 3,061 3,738
Dividend income from A ESRE E 2R BRA
available-for-sale financial asset 2,150 -
Reversal of impairment loss FEW B 5 SRR R (B B 18 B
on trade receivables 80 =
Sundry income HMIERA 113 31
5,404 3,769
Other net income/(loss) Htngla (5iR)
Gain on disposal of = FE R E FR0E 2 W
prepaid lease payment 6,340 =
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE BEK
plant and equipment Rz EA (3,882) -
Net exchange loss P& i E5 18 F 58 (289) (1,415)
2,169 (1,415)
5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5. FRRAET

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting)
the following:

a)  Finance costs: a) AR
Interest on bank advances BAR—FREEEE
wholly repayable within ZRITEFRZFE
one year
Total interest expenses on WIRA T ER B AR
financial liabilities not at fair ZERMBEZHNERX
value through profit or loss Gk
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2011 2010
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) S.

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting)

the following: (Continued)

b)

Note:

Cost of inventories includes RMB8,036,000 (2010:
RMB3,750,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation, which
amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments) (Note):
— Contributions to defined
contribution retirement
plans (Note 7)
— Salaries, wages and
other benefits

Other items:
Amortisation of prepaid
lease payment
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services
— other services
Cost of inventories (Note)
Depreciation (Note)
Impairment loss on trade
receivables
Operating lease charges
— leasing of properties
— leasing of equipment
Rental from properties
less direct outgoings

separately above.

b)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

FRIBIEF (18
BREADEF BB GEA) T3&
IH (&)
2011 2010
—E2—% —T-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREET T
BINA (BREEZHS)
(K1:%)
— EREFUR NGB 5R
(K177)
1,307 947
—T5  #FHehEMEF
16,810 10,416
18,117 11,363
HMIER :
TET T EFRIE 2 B 5H
518 169
ZEREN €
— FiR% 1,330 1,191
— H MR 448 410
GERA (B#) 345,513 483,942
e (H:F) 9,755 5,417
JEWE 53R IE 2 R EE R
- 94
RETHEEH
— HAmE 1,545 1,030
— ARG 6 =
MERSREEZEAX
(53) (53)

wisz :

FEKAEEARES,036,000T (=
—Z4F . AR%3,750,0007T) BERIE T
RARITENSE  ZELHBID

S m |

7l

FPALME B RENASE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-T——F+-A=1t—HLEE

6. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represents:

Current Tax BHARH 18

PRC enterprise income tax A B 1 TS A
— current year —REE

Deferred Tax ERERTIE

Origination of temporary differences =R E A4
(note 26(b)) (K1zt26(b))

i) The Company and its subsidiaries established
in the British Virgin Islands are not subject to
income tax.

ii) A uniform enterprise income tax of 25%
became generally applicable to all domestic
and foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC, subject to certain exceptions or
exemptions with effect from 1 January 2008.

iy  No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has
been made for the years ended 31 December
2010 and 2011 as the Group’s income neither
arises in, nor is derived from Hong Kong.

82 Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited ¢ jZ SRIR{REBHR A 7

6.

RiGEZEMBRZMER

a)

RiRA 2 EMKERZBRIALRE

2011 2010
—g——%| -—T-3£
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

9,448 31,147

1,714 4,852

11,162 35,999
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Notes to the Financial Statements

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6.
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Continued)

b)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting

profit at applicable tax rates:

Profit before taxation

Notional tax on profit before
taxation calculated at rates
applicable to profits in the
jurisdictions concerned

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses
Tax effect of unrecognised
temporary differences
Tax effect of unused tax losses
not recognised
Tax effect of utilisation of unused tax
losses not recognised in prior year
Tax effect of withholding tax
at 10% on distributable profits
of the PRC subsidiaries

Income tax expenses

BR Bt A4

REARES BRI AR
B A 2 B R

ST EBRTRR T

L BETIA
BARTUA
2R
DA A S 2 B2

;KEEHUEI HT%%Z
%z
*ﬁwﬁxﬁﬁmﬂ
B8 2 Mg &
AT FARER A ARE A
MEZMﬁ@‘

H BB A 3K A
fE1096i%"%ﬂZW%E
RIS o 2

PR th

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

Riza

(18

EHBRRZAER

~

b) ?ﬁ(LﬁH%R—v—u‘l‘ ZTRIES‘ZH:IIEE
E u‘l‘/ﬁl%”ZiTEﬁﬁuT 5

2011 2010
=% —R—TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AR¥ETTT
19,986 110,654
5,649 28,055

- (4,892)

130 5,547

11 9

3,658 2,755

- (327)

1,714 4,852
11,162 35,999
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Notes to the Financial Statements

S 755 R 3R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS
Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan managed by independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and
its employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. The contributions
from each of the employer and employees are subject to
a cap of HK$1,000 per month and thereafter contributions
are voluntary. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-sponsored retirement plan operated
by the local government in the PRC and these subsidiaries
make mandatory contributions to the state-sponsored
retirement plan to fund the employees retirement benefits.
The retirement contributions paid by the PRC subsidiaries
are based on a certain percentage of the relevant portion
of the payroll of all qualifying employees in accordance
with the relevant regulations in the PRC and are charged
to profit or loss as incurred. The Group discharges its
retirement obligations upon payment of the retirement
contributions to the state-sponsored retirement plan
operated by the local government in the PRC.

A new law of the PRC on employment contracts (the
“Employment Contract Law”) was adopted by the
Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress of
the PRC in 2008 and became effective on 1 January 2008.
Compliance with the requirements under the new law, in
particular, the requirement of severance payment and non-
fixed term employment contracts, may increase the staff
costs of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RETIREMENT BENEFITS COSTS (Continued)

Pursuant to the new Employment Contract Law, the
PRC subsidiaries are required to enter into non-fixed
term employment contract with employees who have
worked for more than 10 years or with whom a fixed term
employment has been concluded for 2 consecutive terms.
The employer is required to make a severance payment to
the employee when the term of the employment contract
expires unless the employee voluntarily terminates the
contract or voluntarily rejects the offer to renew the
contract in which case the terms are no worse off than
the terms of other employment contracts available to him/
her. The severance payment will be equal to the monthly
wages times the number of full years that the employee
has been working for the employer. The minimum wages
requirement has also been imposed. Fines will be imposed
for any breach of the Employment Contract Law.

The Group has no other material obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits associated with the
schemes beyond the contributions described above.

The contributions paid which have been dealt with in profit
or loss of the Group for the years ended 31 December
2010 and 2011 are as follows:

Contributions paid B R

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The directors of the Company were members of the
senior management of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2011 and 2010. Directors’ emoluments
disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance is as follows:

Fees we

Salaries, allowances and e R REAM
other benefits in kind B =

Contributions to retirement scheme RORET SR

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

BHFEFIRE ()

BREHSHERE FRMEAQ A
BED THEIOFEMN LD KEE
MR EERSEER 2EE
AVEETEHREEER - AER
EELEEREREEEEREERN
BEXNEME KRIFEEBER
IEERkBEBEERESFERTER
HaESzHEHMEBHEREKERZE
B B E 2 (HHBEERZEER
FATEFRUZEEE ARETE
VEBFH - WINEEBRELE
HE - HEBERIEZEMERS

o yil =

BaEsImA °

AEEG R H S - BARE
2 = 8788 K 4 (71 B 52 R A
BAMEARA -

HALEERE-T-—TER-F
——F+-A=+—AIFE2A
%2 EXMEHFIBMT -

2011 2010
—g——%| -—zT-=&
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTR | ARETI
1,307 947

EEHE

REE-ZE——FR-_ZT—ZTF+
A=+ HLEFEE  XRAEE
NEAEBSREEREKE - RIE
EB N AMEHIFE161{EIRE 2 &= E
Ea /N

2011 2010
==2——% —2—TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTIT
679 711

778 395

56 25

1,513 1,18
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B 55 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 8. EEE& (&)
Year ended 31 December 2011
BE-E—E+-AZ+-HLEE
Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits
inkind Contributions Equity-settled
#& - toretirement share-based
RER scheme payments
Fees Hfty &bt Sub-total BFHER Total
Name of director RS fig Enfg 4 et BRir e #8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AB%TR  AERTR AR®TRT  AR®TR  AERTR  ARRTR
Executive directors ~ B{TEE
Mr. Fan Yajun EREEE 100 - - 100 - 100
Mr. Gan Vi HERE 100 180 48 328 - 328
Mr. Jiang Lei Bart 100 264 4 368 - 368
Mr. Jiang Quanlong BRERA 100 334 4 438 - 438
Independent BAFHTES
non-executive
directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee KR E 50 - - 50 - 50
Mr. Leung ShuSun,  2fi#%4E
Sunny 179 - - 179 - 179
Professor Wang TEVHE
Guozhen 50 - - 50 - 50
679 778 56 1,513 - 1,513
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Notes to the Financial Statements

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 8.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

EFHNe (&)

Year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-TET-A=t-ALtERE

Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits
inkind  Contributions
R to retirement
ZER scheme
Fees £t RN
Name of director BEhA fidkin EMFla Bl
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETTL

Executive directors BWIES

Equity-settled

share-based

payments
Sub-total RALEE Total
It R &5
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT N S ARETT

Mr. Fan Yajun ERELE 105 106 4 215 - 215
Mr. Gan Yi HExnsE 105 120 17 242 - 242
Mr. Jiang Lei Bafi 105 44 - 149 - 149
Mr. Jiang Quanlong BRELE 105 125 4 234 - 234
Independent BIBTES

non-executive

directors
Mr. Lai Wing Lee RKFIEAE 52 - - 52 - 52
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, PHRETEAE

Sunny 187 - - 187 - 187
Professor Wang TERHR

Guozhen 52 - - 52 - 52

71 395 25 1,131 - 1,131

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the directors held
share options under the Company’s share option scheme.
The details of the share options are disclosed under the
paragraph “Share Option Scheme” in note 29 to the
financial statements. During the years ended 31 December
2011 and 2010, no directors of the Company had waived
any emoluments and no emoluments was paid or payable
by the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

RZE——FRZT—ZFF+=H
=t+—H EFRBEARAERE
FrEIFEEIERE BEBEREFE
EmNC R R E N R =
—BRo-RBE_ZT——FRZ=F—
TEFEF+_A=+—HLEFE AR
AMEESERECANEREASE
B BTN EZMERNMESIER
REMAKRIMAREE R E6
SREEE . BEE o
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B 55 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

9. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 9. EESM&AL
EMOLUMENTS
The five individuals with the highest emoluments, three FAN AfumzmMe ATBE=A
(2010: three) are directors whose emoluments are ZTE-TF =) EF Hie
disclosed in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments FEBEHNMES e S T (=T —
in respect of the other two (2010: two) individuals are as TF W) ALZElE0T ¢
follows:

2011 2010
=2——%F —R—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Salaries and allowances 4 NEEL 1,105 1,123
Contributions to retirement scheme IRIRET SR 20 21
1,125 1,144
During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five FR - BERRAURSEAL (B
highest paid individuals (including directors and other FESRAEMES) ZNEMBMSE
employees) as inducement to join or upon joining the AARE AN A SR AN A A B I 2 88
Group or as compensation of loss of office (2010: Nil). SREB EE (2 —FF:T) -
The emoluments of the remaining two individuals other ZEHTMUAL (ESBRIN) 2B
than the director fall within the following bands: AT
2011 2010
22— —E-TF
Bands: #5
Nil to RMB830,130 Tz AR¥830,1307T
(equivalent to HK$1,000,000) (#8E 71,000,000 7T) 1 1

RMB830,131 (equivalent to
HK$1,000,001)
to RMB1,245,195
(equivalent to HK$1,500,000)

AR#830,1317C
(#8& #1,000,001787T)
= ANR#1,2451957T
(#8& 71,500,000/ 7T ) 1 1
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

10. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
Company includes a loss of approximately RMB9,332,000
(2010: a profit of approximately RMB16,277,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.

11. DIVIDENDS

a) Dividends payable to owners of the Company
attributable to the year

No final dividend was proposed
after the end of the reporting
period (2010: Nil)

MRS AREAR B

The directors have resolved not to recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year.

b) Dividends payable to owners of the Company
attributable to the previous financial year,
approved and paid during the year

Final dividend in respect of the RAEE AL R
previous financial year, approved
and paid during the year,

of HK Nil cents per share

(2010: HK4 cents

(equivalent to RMB3.49 cents))

—ET-FF  |E)

10. FLFWAAEBEHR

11.

W AR IR E HIR 2 12

SN EETBEEZ
RERE B - BRZTH
(ZZ—T4F : 458l
(HERARES.499))

AAEHEAE AEIEEE N BIEE
B4 AR%9,332,000T (ZE—=F
F BN HARE6,277,0007T)
BEEARRRZHIEHRERTER -

Hglé\

a) ERNEFARRAEEAZAEF

ERE
2011 2010
2% —TFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR ARETT
BEEREBTNREARFERAR

é\o
b) RAFEAMRAERIZMSEIRM
FARDIBDERAZ LEHBEF

ERE
2011 2010
—Z2—%5 —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR ARETT
- 27,904
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12.

a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately RMB9,520,000 (2010:
approximately RMB76,277,000) and the weighted
average number of 800,000,000 shares (2010:
800,000,000 shares) in issue during the year.

b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share equal to basic earnings
per share for the years ended 31 December 2011
and 2010 as the exercise price of the Company’s
outstanding share options were higher than the average
market price of the Company’s shares for the year
and therefore it is anticipated that no share option to
subscribe for the Company’s shares will be exercised.

13. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENT 13.

=18kl
a) EBREXER

ERERNBFDERERF
HEAEBERROARK
9,520,0007T (ZE—FF : 4
AR #76,277,0007T) REAN
2 % 77800,000,0000% (= &
— & 4 : 800,000,0000%) A&
2 MEFEEEE -

b) SREFERR

A PO 28 R 1T SRR
B2 ESRAR ARG 2
FHHE BE-F——ER
—F—FE+-A=+—AL
FEr SRBSRNESRS
BEXEF - ElFEHTET
(EREBREARBAR AR -

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYEREE
Addition during the year FARNE
Disposal during the year FAHE
Amortisation 5
Carrying amount at end of year FRREE
Analysed by: DT -
Non-current portion FERNER R 17
Current portion BNER R

The prepaid lease payment represents prepayment of

FEERIA
The Group
*EH

2011 2010
—Z2—%5 —E-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTTT
6,745 6,914
39,550 -
(4,331) -
(518) (169)
41,446 6,745
40,596 6,576
850 169
41,446 6,745

BENHEEREERETHEE HER

lease premium for land situated in the PRC under medium
lease term. The amortisation charge for the year is
included in “general and administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

90 Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIRREBHR A 7
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14.

The Group

Cost:

As at 1 January 2010
Additions

Transfer

Exchange adjustment

As at 31 December 2010 &
1 January 2011

Additions

Transfer

Disposal

Exchange adjustment

As at 31 December 2011

Accumulated Depreciation:

As at 1 January 2010
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2010 &
| January 2011

Charge for the year
Written back during the year
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2011

Carrying Amount:

As at 31 December 2011

As at 31 December 2010

HE
%
B AR

W_E——F&
+-B=1-H
RHHE:

R=Z-FF—H—H
AERRX
B AR

RZE-SETZA=1-H
k=%—%-A-A

REERX
LD
B AR

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BERBRH

rEE
Furniture,
fixturesand  Leasehold Plant and Motor Property under
Buildings  equipment improvements  machinery vehicles Molding  construction Total
f&l KE HENR
#¥ R KE  BRERES ARE Ba ERNR én
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETR AREBTr ARETR ARETR ARETT ARET:R
52,584 2,154 1,305 18,739 6,765 - - 81,547
- 161 563 - 2,576 - 130,055 133,345
- - 11,012 - - - (11,012) -
: ) : : : : : n
52,584 2,308 12,870 18,739 9,341 - 119,043 214,885
1,320 246 681 580 906 - 92,470 96,203
87,108 - - 64,034 - 1,904 (152,875) 171
(16,939) - - - (721) - - (17,666)
- ) ©) . - - - (16)
124,073 2,547 13,542 83,353 9,520 1,904 58,638 293,577
17,147 1,491 724 9,499 4736 - = 33,59
2,388 27 355 1,621 836 - - 5417
- {7 @ - - - - )
19,535 1,701 1,017 11,120 5571 - - 39,004
2,029 215 1,002 4,467 1,090 952 - 9,755
(6,611) - - - (654) - - (7,265)
- {7 (4 - - - - 1)
14,953 1,909 2,075 15,587 6,007 952 - 41,483
109,120 638 11,467 67,766 3,618 952 58,638 252,094
33,049 607 1,793 7,619 3,770 - 119,043 175,881
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For the year ended 31 December 2011

BE-T——F+-A=1t—HLEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The Company

Cost
As at 1 January 2010
Additions
Exchange adjustment

As at 31 December 2010 and
1 January 2011

Additions
Exchange adjustment

As at 31 December 2011

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2010
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustment

As at 31 December 2010 and
1 January 2011

Charge for the year

Exchange adjustment

As at 31 December 2011

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2011

As at 31 December 2010

a)  All the buildings are situated in the PRC and are held
under medium-term lease.

REHE

R=F—F£—A—H
REFHRAX
b AR

R-BE—ZF
+=—H=+—8
k—Z——%—f—H

REFHX
[ X A%

RZZE——F
+-A=+—~H

RN ——F
=A==

R-ZE-—ZF
+ H +—H

N

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIRREBHR A 7

14. Y% - BERBRHE (8)

NN

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold
equipment improvements

1:3 /AN HE Total
KER®RE MEEE bt ]
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T ARETTT
183 - 183

37 254 291

(7) = (7)

213 254 467

17 - 17

(8) ] 17

222 245 467

171 - 171

28 80 108

(7) (@) Q)

192 78 270

20 82 102

(7) (4) (11

205 156 361

17 89 106

21 176 197

a) FABFARTETRESH

HEMRREE -



15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET

16.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

15. AIHHESRMEE

The Group
. 3
2011 2010
—Z2—% —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARET T
Unlisted equity securities in the PRC, TR A E Z R
at cost FE TR 55

Balance at beginning of year FHEER 6,850 6,850
Addition INE 2,150 -
Balance at end of year FRERR 9,000 6,850

LA EHRENKEESETEH
AR A S 2 FLAE RS 2 5% AHE -
R EERTSABERREQF
BETRERSEHE - WA FREH
BEEMFAZIELMBRABHRE
WA R FHREE RS -

The carrying value of the above unlisted investment
represents 5% equity interest in a private entity
incorporated in the PRC. The unlisted equity securities,
which is not held for short-term trading, were carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses as they do not
have a quoted price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. WHEBATZIRE
The Company
b /N
2011 2010
—E—5 —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBFIT
Unlisted shares, at cost BT E 2 IE ETRIRD 530,201 381,537
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUR B B A m) FR IR

(Note 18) (H12#18) 282,696 435,429

R B 2 B OB R EIE R - 28
RBREF AR -

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

16.
(Continued)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

16. RBARZ&RE (W)

Name of subsidiary
MELSERE

Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Technologies
Limited

Dragon Commend Limited

Wuxi Pan Asia
Environmental Protection
Technologies Limited

Place of
incorporation
and type of
legal entity
R It B R
ERRENE

British Virgin
Islands, limited
liability company

RERLHE
BRRA

British Virgin
Islands, limited
liability company

EERTHS
BRRA

The PRC,
jointly-

Registered Capital

foreign-owned  42,609,000%7T

(“Wuxi Pan Asia”) enterprise

BH7ERERR hE - S
BRAT RELE
([EFZE])

EEACAR

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIRREBHR A 7

MEARFBENAT :
Proportion of ownership interest
BRELH
Issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered Group’s Held Held  Principal activities
capital effective by the bya and place of
B#{TR interest Company subsidiary operations
BERF / F5E - miE IEXRBR
Mk EREE OLOFRE OFRT  BENE
US$200/  100% 100% - Investment holding,
Ordinary Share in Hong Kong
2007,/ REZK &R
il
us$i/  100% 100% - Not yet commence
Ordinary Share business,
121/ in Hong Kong
TRk ma¥ &4
US$42,609,000/ 100% 47.7% 52.3%  Manufacture and

sales of EP
products and
equipment,
undertakes
EP construction
engineering
projects and
manufacture of
EP construction
materials,
in the PRC
RREMRREL
BUE R HE Rokdx
RRERIRE
A REERR
BEME - PE



Notes to the Financial Statements

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Name of subsidiary

HBLAREE

Pan Asia Environmental
Protection (China)
Company Limited

WERR (RE) BRATF

Wuxi Zhong Dian Kong
Leng Technology Limited

BHHHEE LRI
AR

BEEROREARAT
(TROERE])

Shanghai Environmental
Engineering Design &
Research Institute
Limited (“SEEDRI")

ERREIRS RN
ARAA ([R7
Timskl)

Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation registered
and type of capital
legal entity 2BTR
e fH RS 3Lt B R BERE
EREENE frd e
The PRC, HK$100,000,000/
wholly- Registered Capital
foreign-owned 100,000,000%7T,/
enterprise AR A
E - M
BEME
The PRC, RMB5,000,000/
domestic- Registered Capital
invested limited ARE
liability company ~ 5,000,0007C /
HE - ERRE BRI
BRAF
The PRC, RMB10,000,000/
domestic- Registered Capital
invested limited AR
liability company ~ 10,000,0007C /
hE  ERRE BRI
BRAR
The PRC, RMB10,750,000/
joint stock Registered Capital
limited company AR
E - BRI 10,750,0007% /
BRAT AR

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

16. RBARIZ&RE (M)

Proportion of ownership interest

BRELA

Group’s
effective
interest
F5H
ERES

100%

100%

100%

70.05%

Held

by the
Company
;P
NGIEEE )

Held

by a
subsidiary
mE
NGIEET ]

100%

Principal activities
and place of
operations
IERBR

it 3

Manufacture and
sales of EP
products and
equipment and
undertakes EP
construction
engineering
projects,
in the PRC

RREmRZEL
SUE I 358 Rk
RIRERTLIE
BE - H

Investment holding,
in the PRC
REZER - RE

100%

100%  Undertakes
EP construction
engineering
projects,
in the PRC
RERRER
TRIER - HE
70.05%  Provision of
professional services,
manufacture and
sales of EP
products and
equipment
and undertakes
EP construction
engineering projects
and provision of
professional services
in the PRC
RUELRE
RIREm RS
ZEUERHE R
AERRESTR
THE Rt
BEMRE - PE
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RBARZRE (])

(Continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation registered  Group’s
and type of capital effective
legal entity BHTR interest
Name of subsidiary BEMEIR BERT FKE
MELTRE EREENE EmkE ERES
B2 5 KRR The PRC, RMB2,000,000/  70.05%
BRRE domestic- Registered Capital
invested limited AR
liability company ~ 2,000,0007T,/
HE - EARE AR A
BB AT
BETTIRIER T The PRC, RMB10,000,000/  49.04%
BB AT joint stock Registered Capital
([EEmZTE]) limited company R
HE - R 10,000,0007C,/
BRARA] Rl

Note: The Group holds 49.04% effective interest of E %)z 5. The
Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of it so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The
directors of the Group considered that the Group entitled to
control %235 as a subsidiary even the effective interest
holding is 49.04% only.

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIRREBHR A 7

BERELLE
Held Held Principal activities
by the bya and place of

Company subsidiary operations
k. miE IEXBR
QNEHE  LFREE BENE

- 100%  Manufacture and
sales of EP
products and
equipment and
undertakes EP
construction
engineering
projects,
in the PRC

BRERRRE
ZEERHER
EERRERTRE
HE - HE

- 70%  Manufacture and
sales of EP
products and
equipment
and undertakes
EP construction
engineering
projects
and provision of
professional
services in
the PRC .

RIRE m KR
ZHERHER
AEIRRERTE
BH - BREE
R - A
Hiat - AEEREEERZ $249.04% 2 &
miEm o NEBBBREREMBE R
EEEORAEEEHLETET - &
BEERAEZEZR49.04% 2 Ewm
i BEAEEEFRATEEA
BREER—FHEB AR FAE
il o



17.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

INVENTORIES

Raw materials B R
Work-in-progress £ 8 am
Finished goods BIRK 0m

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense is as follows:

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZREMA

17. 8
The Group
x5KMHE
2011 2010
—E—% —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT
11,254 13,873
4,335 15
65,567 19,862
81,156 33,750

AR ZFESEOMWT

The Group
*KHE
2011 2010
—Eg—%F —T-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTTT
345,513 483,942
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. B R AR HMRIA

The Group The Company
F5EE r. /N
2011 2010 2011 2010
B——% | _T-ZF | ZB——8F | _TZF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE | ARET T | AR®TRE | ARETR
Trade receivables FEWE 578 141,530 209,608 - -
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts & : REREE (1,076) (1,156) - -
140,454 208,452 - -
Other receivables =l e ] 119,479 132,422 122 111
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts 5 : FREEEE (147) (147) - =
119,332 132,275 122 111
Amounts due from related FEW I E AT
companies (Note 19) B (B1:£19) 6,100 - - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U BT B A B FIA
(Note 16) (Kiit16) - - 282,696 435,429
Loans and receivables B & FEUBGRIE 265,886 340,727 282,818 435,540
Prepayments and deposits BRFERES 120,581 72,430 1,638 2,499
Other tax recoverables Hip o e & 9,773 1,769 - =
Amounts due from FHEFEL
customers for contract T8
work (Note 25) (H15t25) 118,125 114,877 - -
514,365 529,803 284,456 438,039

The amount of the Group’s and the Company’s
prepayments and deposits expected to be recovered

or recognised as expense after more than one yea

ris

RMB241,000 (2010: RMB249,000) and RMB241,000
(2010: RMB249,000) respectively. All of the trade and
other receivables (including amounts due from a related
company and subsidiaries), apart from the quality
retention monies of approximately RMB41,538,000 (2010:
RMB22,389,000) mentioned in note 18(a) are expected to
be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIRREBHR A 7

REBRARRBHER —FEI
Bl ERAERAT 2 BN KRB RZSE
DR A ANREE241,000T (ZE—F
£ AR #249,000T) B AR
241,000 (ZE—ZFF: AR
249,0007T) ° BRI sE18(@)fTaLE £
RE S 4 AR ¥41,538,0007T (=
T —Z F: A R#22389,0007T)
Sh - FTERKE 5 REMFRIE (B
FE — R RAE A R KK B AR FIE)
TEHIR —F RN EI K ER AR



18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

a)

Ageing analysis

Trade receivables are net of allowance for doubtful
debts and with the following ageing analysis
presented as of the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0&30K
31-60 days 31E60X
61-90 days 61290K
91-180 days 91£E180K
181-365 days 181£E365K
Over 365 days 365A A

Trade receivables are due within 60 days from the
date of billing.

The Group normally grants credit terms from 1
to 2 months to its customers. Trade receivables
generally include the balances yet to be due such
as the quality retention monies of approximately
RMB60,564,000 (2010: RMB72,981,000) (typically
5% to 20% of the total contracted value) that are
retained by the customers until the fulfilment of
the warranty period of generally 1 to 2 years and
receivable pursuant to the payment terms of the
respective contracts.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

18. BB R HAMMRIT (&)

a)

SRR DA

FENE 5 RIBHBRRRRAE -
MR RS R 25 Z R T

wmr
2011 2010
—E——%F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TT ARETTT
13,334 104,110
17,659 20,057
20,433 5,003
21,915 25,438
34,995 27,471
32,118 26,373
140,454 208,452

EWE SHRBAELAKREARE
BORME|H] -

AEBEBEESRARTRFPET1E2
BAZEEH - BIKE S FIE
—RBEERDPHE - WIRE
BB Z I HEFREUER -
HEFRBEEZERE B1E2
F2ERBARTAILEZEER
B e 4 A AR 60,564,000
T(ZZE—ZTF: ARK
72,981,0007T) (—RAE #4E
BEZ5%E20%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b) Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables
are recorded using an allowance account unless
the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is
remote, in which case the impairment loss is written
off against trade receivable directly (see note 2(g)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
during the year, including both specific and collective
loss components, is as follows:

At 1 January R—H—H
Impairment loss recognised EHERREEE
Reversal of impairment loss BB E 1R

At 31 December R+—H=+—H

As at 31 December 2011, trade receivables of
approximately RMB1,076,000 (2010: approximately
RMB1,156,000) were individually determined to be
impaired and full allowance had been made. These
individually impaired receivables were outstanding for
over 90 days as at the end of the reporting period or
were due from companies with financial difficulties.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIR{REBHR A 7

b)

18. BB RHAMMRIT (&)

PE W B 5 FRIE 2 R B

BN E ZHBZBEEBRTIR
BEBRTER  BRIFAKEME
FEREZERZATREMERE -
AR EBREERREKE
SFRF M (RHEE2(g))

FARGBREED (BEFE
RERERID) WT

2011 2010
=% —R—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

1,156 1,062
- 94
(80) =
1,076 1,156

RZBE——FF+—A=+—
B BRESREHARE
1,076,0007C (ZE—FF : 4
AE#1,156,0007T) C ERIZE
ERME  WiEL2EEME -
ZEEBRE 2 R G IE R ]
S HIR B AR BO0R - A A
ABT B 82 A RIRAS o RE
Bz ST EE A TR
1Y)



Notes to the Financial Statements

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

b)

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

The factors which the Group considered in
determining whether these trade receivables were
individually impaired included the following:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinguency in interest or principal payments;

receivables that have been outstanding for a
certain period;

the granting to the debtor, for economic or
legal reasons relating to the debtor’s financial
difficulty, a concession that the Group would
not otherwise consider;

it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor;

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

18. BB RHAMMIT (&)

b)

P B 5 RE2mE (&)

AEEREEZEREE SK
HESEERIBREREBZ
ESESNNE

o BEBAREAMEHEE

s ERAH MEHIsEn
REEMEHAE

s RUNRBEEHEXR —RE
5

s AREEREEBHBAZ
MBAEERERERK
AEER BTEBA
—HEASEEEMEBER
T EEBLZEY

o BB ABAIREHESE
TR HEEAR

e B -WH - KEHXZX
BRBBESANE I
HEBABTHZE
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

c)

Trade receivables that are past due but not
impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are past
due but not impaired are as follows:

Less than 1 month past due B HR DR {E A
1 to 3 months past due BHI1 =318 A
More than 3 months past due &1 HR R iR 3 {E A

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIR{REBHR A 7

18. BB REMMRIT (i§)

c)

BB B RREZ BN E 5K
"

BB HERRE 2 B E S

B BREDITIT
2011 2010
=2——%F —R—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETTT
6,468 30,343
14,354 13,125
33,946 16,430
54,768 59,898

BE R 280 HA 75 AR OBl B 2 JE W s TR
B % 23 BB 4E ROB SRR R 2
EFHRH -

2 8 BB KRB E 2 e Y R 0R B
SEBEREAEEERTES
L ZBITFAR - ERXB
TR BRNEEERYES

L BREHRBNRRRA
2RO WEREREHA
LA BSRBELRERRE - K
SEVERERXEREZER
Efm e



Notes to the Financial Statements

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

d) Other receivables

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand and included an
amount of approximately RMB97,230,000 (2010:
RMB97,230,000) advanced to the local government
departments of Guannan County, Lianyungang City,
Jiangsu Province. The management believes that
no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
this balance as the balance is still considered fully
recoverable.

Other receivables also included a total amount of
approximately RMB5,000,000 (2010: RMB20,000,000)
arising from the disposal of subsidiaries in 2009. The
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of this balance as the balance is
still considered fully recoverable.

There were no movements in the allowance account
for other receivables.

19. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

18. BB RAMMRIT (i8)

d)

H fth FE WK IE

ZRBENEER 2ERE
BEEXABEERNLBEEE
NP IHEEESEMEESRE
HERATEFT 2 I A RE
97,230,000T (=& —Z 4 :
A R #97,230,0007T) » & 2
BARE - AR ZERBIHES
AR 28GR EAE
AR -

HEMERFBENBREEZSE
hWELENBRAREELEZA R
#) AR #5,000,000T (=ZF—
T & AR #20,000,0007T)
ZFIE - BEERRE  BR&
EHRBINFER AR 2D -
It R BRI E R -

U AR TR B B
@JO

19. EURHEX TR

COMPANIES
The Group The Company
k50 507
Year ended Maximum amount Year ended Maximum amount
31 December outstanding 31 December outstanding
BETZRCT-ALER ARERREN BETCRCT-HLER FRERREN
2011 2010 201 2010 201 2010 201 2010
Name of 3§ | “3-%F | I3--§ | “5-%F | I%-—-F | Z%-%% | I8—-F | 5%
company Connected party RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 | RMB'000
EL [ ] ABRTR | ARMTT | ARBTR | ARMTR | ABRTR | ARETR | ABRTR | ARSTR
Yixing AGC Ceramics A company in which Mr. Jiang Lei
Co. Limited and Mr. Jiang Quanlong, directors
('AGC") of the Company, have ultimate
ERBRTIE beneficial interests
BERRAT AAAESEERERERELE
(Tee7) RERERERERL AT 6,100 - 6,100 - - - - -
YY Holdings Limited A company in which Mr. Jiang Lei
and Mr. Jiang Quanlong, directors
of the Company, have
beneficial interests
ATESRRTARERRAE
REREEE s A - - - 2,008 - - - 2,028
6,100 - 6,100 2,028 - - - 2,028
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-T——F+-A=1t—HLEE

19. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED 19. BERELAFIRIEA ()
COMPANIES (Continued)
The amounts due from related companies are unsecured, EWEEN R RIBAERE - £8
interest-free and repayable on demand. MBI BB E K ©
20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. HERBITHER
A major position of the cash and bank balances for REEZT——FR-ZE—TF+
the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 was ZA=+—HIFE AFBHHES
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible MERITHRBAARE (REBREM%S
currency in the international money market. The exchange BETREBBREILBRZERE) 5HE -
rate of RMB is determined by the Government of the AREEZHPRBFEE @ £
PRC and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC BHEL FllES  AXPEBNAR
is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the 80 2 SNEE 5 AR PR o SR1T 45 SR T
Government of the PRC. The bank balances carry interest BEZEE0S% (ZE—ZEF: &
at market rates ranging from Nil to 0.5% (2010: Nil to 0.836%) 2 TiHFF=E o
0.36%) per annum.
21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. ENESREMKRE
The Group The Company
%M 07
2011 2010 2011 2010
—2——F | 2T | ZB——F | T TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR | ARE T | A\ARBTRT | ARETT
Trade payables FENE 518 60,418 59,025 - -
Accruals and other payables JEETE R R EAM
FETFRIB 35,250 45,888 1,041 1,066
Amount due to a director FER — (I EEFIE
(Note 23) (H1a#23) 1,589 1,531 - =
Amount due to a related et —EREERA R
company (Note 24) I8 (Hfit24) 23 5 - -
Financial liabilities measured  LABESSAK AN 5T & 49
at amortised cost TREIAE 97,280 106,449 1,041 1,066
Other PRC tax payables o e R B AR IR 4,383 3,254 - =
101,663 109,703 1,041 1,066
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-A=+—HLFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

All of the trade and other payables (including amounts
due to related parties), apart from those mentioned in
note 25 are expected to be settled or recognised as
income within one year or are repayable on demand.

a)

b)

Ageing analysis of trade payables

The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:

0 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days

91 to 180 days
181 to 365 days

Over 365 days

Accruals and other payables

0%&30H
31£60H
61290H
91&180H
181£365H
365H A

Included an amount of approximately RMB8,784,000
(2010: RMB14,029,000) due to a former subsidiary.
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

21. BENRBRAEMBRIT (&)

FRERMNE S REMKIE (BIEEMN
BAET Z5RIR) » bR EXHisE25R At
I EHR —F RN HER
RWA SRR ESRENEHEE o

a)

b)

FES B 5 IR Z BRIk 2 47

& B 5 Ik 30 2 Bk ik 3 4 40

T~
The Group
x5KMHE
2011 2010
—2—% —ET-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETIT
5,306 10,024
565 304
5,510 1,383
3,215 958
2,161 1,930
43,661 44,426
60,418 59,025
st E AR E e KIE

FIBH AR #ES,784,0007T (=
T—FF : AR¥14,029,000
TC) B FRIMEB AR ° &K
HTYEEE - BB REREX

BB &R ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-T——F+-A=1t—HLEE

22. SHORT-TERM BANK LOANS 22,

At 31 December 2010, the bank loan of the Group is
secured, carrying interest at variable-rates of 6.06% -
6.97% per annum and repayable within 1 year. The bank
loan of the Group is secured by a building of the Group
with a carrying amount of approximately RMB880,000.
During the year 2011, the bank loan was fully repaid..

23. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR 23.

Mr. Jiang Quanlong BRBELA

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

24. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY 24,

Name of company

LFRE

Connected party

HE%

Osram (China) Fluorescent Materials A company in which
Co., Ltd. (“Osram”) Mr. Jiang Lei and
BRRIBA (FREY) 2 XM R BR A A Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
Q=GR directors of the Company,
have beneficial interests
RRAREEBREER
BRELAENRETHES
-y S A/NC]

The amount due to a related company is of a trade nature
and is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIR{REBHR A 7

BRRITER

R—_ZE—ZTF+_-_A=+—8"
SEZROTEFRAEFEBREN  I&
TFEENEE.06%E6.97 %5 B KA
R—FREE - ~2EEZRITER
AEBREELN ARS80,000TEF
AR —T——F  RITEXRE
EEEE -

Bt —HEERR

The Group
*EE
2011 2010
—g——% | -T-Tf
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE | ARETI
1,589 1,531

ZRETY R - 2B RAREK
BIBFE AR

FEf+—RIFAZE L FRIF

The Group
*EE
2011 2010
—E——F —E—FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TR ARBTTT
23 5

BOBF B K -
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25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR 25.
CONTRACT WORK
Contract work-in-progress at the end of the reporting period:
Contract costs incurred to date ESEEZE KA

B e S0 AR 2 FE R B 18

Recognised profits less recognised losses

R E IR

Less: Progress billings

Amounts due from customers
for contract work

FEWEF & #) TRRFKIA

The amounts due from customers for contract work at
31 December 2011 that is expected to be recovered
after more than one year is RMB106,171,000 (2010:
RMB106,374,000).

In respect of construction contracts in progress at the end
of the reporting period, the amount of retention receivables
from customers, recorded within “trade receivable” at 31
December 2011 is RMB2,370,000 (2010: RMB4,708,000).
The amount of those retentions expected to be recovered
after more than one year is RMBNil (2010: RMBNIil).
Receipts in advance from customers for contract work
amounted to RMB21,460,000 (2010: RMB15,040,000).

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

BREFSHIERER

RIMERRATZERBAL

The Group
AEME

2011 2010
—2—% —T-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%®FR AR®ET T
204,552 171,323
75,680 75,686
280,232 247,009
(162,107) (132,132)
118,125 114,877

N—ZE——F+-_A=+—H0"  #
AR —FRREZEREFAHT
BREAARK106,171,0007T (=
T—T4F : AR¥106,374,0007T) °

BRERBERRCERIRESGD
R-E—F+=-A=+—H2 [fE
WE ZEF ] ARAIERE R 2R
B A A RE2 370,0000T (—ZZF—
T AR¥4708,0007T) ° ZE
TS P — 12 4B 2 (R FIBE B
ARBZT (Z2—ZF : A\REZT
) c MREFAHNTIRFTBEAAR
#21,460,000T (Z T —FF : A
R #15,040,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

26. INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENTS OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

26.

a) Current taxation in the statement of financial
position represents

Provision for PRC enterprise o B 1 ZEFTIS B
income tax

Tax paid [RENEZEE

Balance of PRC enterprise ERFFERB 2

BRI

income tax relating to prior year

Tax payable FERTREIE

b) Deferred taxation

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and the movements during the year are as follows:

R=T—FF—A—H
5 AMB3S (Wi60)

At 1 January 2010
Charged to profit or loss
(Note 6(a))

RZZE-ZF+_A=+—HR
=T o A —H
st ABE ((HfiZ6(a)

At 31 December 2010 and
1 January 2011
Charged to profit or loss (Note 6(a))

At 31 December 2011 RZE—F+=ZA=+—H

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIR{REBHR A 7

MBRAXRAZAER
a) BBRRERAZEEBAHIEE
The Group
AEME
2011 2010
—Z=—%5 —E—EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%®FR AR®ET T
9,448 31,147
(11,363) (21,128)
(1,915) 10,019
16,892 11,185
14,977 21,204
b) EEHIE

FARGE M BN KRER
BEREFIRA B ZARE D R

BT
Withholding
tax of
undistributed
profits Total
Ko ikiRF
Z MR #at
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFTT ARBTT
4,852 4,852
4,852 4,852
1,714 1,714
6,566 6,566




Notes to the Financial Statements

26. INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

Pursuant to the New Enterprise Income Tax Laws,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from foreign investment
enterprise established in the PRC. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies
to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
arrangement between the PRC and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
tax rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable to
withholding taxes on dividend distributed by those
subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008 onwards.
The Group recognised deferred tax liabilities in
respect of expected distributable earnings from
its subsidiaries established in the PRC since 1
January 2008 with reference to the Group’s dividend
policy, no matter whether such earnings have been
declared or not by the subsidiaries at the reporting
date. The directors of the Company will review the
funding requirements of the Group from time to time
and revise the dividend policy of its subsidiaries as
appropriate.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of tax
losses of RMB16,544,000 (2010: RMB14,270,000)
which will expire from 2012 to 2016 as it is not
probable that future profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-A=+—HLFE

26. MBRREAZFRFZR (K)

b)

EERE (&)

RBHEEMGSHRZE  EPE
RIZINE R ERINEREE
BT &K B B BB B 1 0% A 31
BebHEB_TZENF—A
—BRAER BRAR-_ZZL
F+-A=T—BENEAEFN -
fisf o B ERHMNE 42 B 3 P ADE
RERTEHBELHE - HATRK
ERXHRBHH - R AKE
mE - @A EKI0%- - A
it AEB AT BAZH
MBARR _ZETNF—H—
B PATR 2E 4 80 B N B 20 I B R
ERMENKR - slA —FF)N\
F—HA—HREEFRBKIZD
BB~ R TEHI R 5 B & A M
5 ASEREBEREEE
HRECRBRE  BwiE
RANBEARBEREZS
B - RRAREEHTRRF
AEBNESER  REER
BB P A B BGR o

AR AERRZ 2B
BEBISAENHTZE

RZE——FR=F—ZTF+
—A=+—8 A£EYER
BR_E——FE T F
A MEBEARK
16,544,0007T (Z & —F F :
AR #14,270,0007T) HRIE
EFIEEE  AAB@AVKEE
ERER M EREY A ] REEIS R
B S ) AR A S 48 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

27. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised and issued share capital

Authorised
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
as at 31 December 2010 and 2011

Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
as at 31 December 2010 and 2011

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled

27. B&#&E
VETE M B BEITIRA
Number of
shares Amount
Bins B k4]
’000 HK$’000
TB% FiE&wT
ERE
RZE—EFR_FT——F
+—A=+—HEK
H{EO0. 178 T2 T 4,000,000 400,000
BEETEEBE
R_FE—ZFFR-_F——F
+=—RA=+—H&K
EEC. 1B T LB 800,000 80,000

Equivalent to RMB74,872,000
HERARK%74,872,0007T

TRARFAEAEREDRTBEEIRZ
REXEERARBARE EAFK

to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. —ERE - 2T AERE AR FF

All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the

Company’s residual assets.
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28. RESERVES

The Group

At 1 January 2010

Profit for the year
QOther comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive
income
Dividends approved in

respect of previous year

Transfer to reserves

At 31 December 2010
and 1 January 2011

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive
income

Transfer to retained profits

upon lapse of
share options
Transfer to reserves

At 31 December 2011

R-E-%%-A-H
ERgH
Eth2mi

EYEER

BiELFEZRS

Emgh
Ef2ENE

gl et

RERERAK
EREREEN

BEZHRE

.

+-h=1-8

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

28. f#iE
*TKE
Enterprise  Statutory
expansion  surplus Share
Share  Special  Capital  reserve  reserve Translation option  Retained
premium  reserve  reserve i EE  reserve  reserve  profits

U] 1) &% g g Ef R #e Total
b 1] 1 | 1 | 1 ] 1 | 1 | pitl) it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR

(Note (I) ~ (Note (i)  (Note (i)  (Note(y)  (Note(v)  (Note(vi) (Note (vil)

(srm) (s (MakGe)  OWshe)) (k) (&) (BaRa))
419,229 94,225 133 40,149 49,422 (6,543) 13,841 472,133 1,082,589
= = = = = = = 76,277 76,277
; . - . = (759) - = (793)
= = = - = (753) = 76,277 75,524
- - - - - - - o (27,904
- - - 5,426 5,426 - - (10852 -
419,229 94,225 138 45575 54,848 (7,296) 13,841 509,654 1,130,209
- - - - - - - 9,520 9,520
- - - - - (19 - - ()
- - - - - (175) - 9,520 9,345
- - - - - - (178) 78 -
- - - 820 820 - - (1,640) -
419229 94,225 138 46395 55,668 (1471) 13,063 518,312 1,139,554
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BE-T——F+-A=1t—HLEE

28. RESERVES (Continued)

28. fkf| (#8)

The Company b. 371
Share
Share  Contributed Translation option  (Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses) Total
BiHER gAER ER R FRER e O (REtEHR) &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
(Note (i) (Note (iv) (Note (vi)) (Note (vif)
(Bits() (GEW) (GiE) (BitsEvin)
At 1 January 2010 R=E-T5-A-H 419,229 372,178 (27,579) 13,841 1,476 779,145
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 16,277 16,277
Qther comprehensive income A 2mbE - - (17,208) = = (17,208)
Total comprehensive income PAYRER - - (17,208) = 16,277 (931)
Dividend approved in respect BHELEEZRE
of previous year - - - - (27,904) (27,904)
At 31 December 2010 and RZZE-FF
1 January 2011 +ZA=+-HRk
—“¥——%-f-H 419,229 372,178 (44,787) 13,841 (10,151) 750,310
Loss for the year ERER = - - - (9,332) (9,332
Qther comprehensive income Er2mbE - - 3,265 - = 3,265
Total comprehensive income 2ENREE - - 3,265 - (9,332) (6,067)
Transfer to retained profits upon RERELNGRERS
lapse of share options REBEA = = = (778) 178 -
At 31 December 2011 i
+-A=1+-H 419,229 372,178 (41,522) 13,063 (18,705) 744,243
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28. RESERVES (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves

i)

ii)

i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account of the Company
is distributable to the owners of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value and share
premium of the subsidiaries acquired and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for
the acquisition at the time of group reorganisation
immediately prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares on 1 December 2007.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess capital
contribution from the non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary — #2222 of the Group.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the ordinary shares
issued by the Company and the net assets value of
subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares
pursuant to the group reorganisation.

Enterprise expansion reserve and statutory surplus
reserve

Statutory surplus reserve and enterprise expansion
reserve are non-distributable. Appropriations to such
reserves are made out of profit after taxation of the
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries
while the amount and allocation basis are decided
by their board of directors annually. The statutory
surplus reserve can be used to make up prior year
losses of the PRC subsidiaries, if any, and can
be applied in conversion into capital by means of
capitalisation issues. The enterprise expansion fund
is used for expanding the capital base of the PRC
subsidiaries by means of capitalisation issue.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

28. f&f| (#8)

B2 HEER A
) ROEE

1)

i)

RERSEEQEEEE
71) - ARE Z B E R
DIRTARRNRERA - HEEHE
BEESKREERZE AR
AIAERRNEENAERBEE
EPEIH 2 EIR

o

B e

AR ER B 2 5 ) 5 45 15 BT USRS B
B AR 2 EE MRS E R
BERARBBRNR _ZTLF+
—A—BLWAIARAREE
ERRRBAEITRD 2@
BZZH -

B A

BAFEIERE TR
AEBENBAREREZD 2B
BEE -

A E R

BABRBEARRCHTER
e HEEREEESHEER
BEAREHBAR CEER
BERERE -

PRIBR 1B SOLE R

AEBBRHEBRERERRER
RTAI DIk - BRREEL
BTy 8 BB A RAE
IR MR BRI A - TR
BEOREETDRERSRF
IRTE ° VRTE BB AT B
REFETEKNERRZE
1B (mA) RAIAE AL BT
ZHAEBRBENR - PEER
HEEBARNERCEITZT
NBATERBRR 2 EARE
R o

Annual Report 2011 ¢« —&F ——FF 3§

113



114

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 755 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

28. RESERVES (Continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
vi)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(r).

vii)  Share option reserve

The share option reserve of the Company and the
Group arose upon on the grant of share options of
the Company and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 2(n).

Distributable reserves of the Company

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of share premium and contributed surplus
if (i) it is, or would after the payment be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due, or (i) the realisable value of
its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its share capital account.

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders amounted to
approximately RMB772,702,000 (2010: RMB781,256,000),
computed in accordance with the Companies Law (Revised)
of the Cayman islands and the Company’s articles of
association. This includes the Company’s share premium of
approximately RMB419,229,000 (2010: RMB419,229,000)
and contributed surplus of approximately RMB372,178,000
(2010: RMB372,178,000), less accumulated losses of
approximately RMB18,705,000 (2010: RMB10,151,000),
which are available for distribution.
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28. fkf| (#8)

REZMEREN (8)
vi)  [EZEE

[E R BRI E RN
BRRELEZMAIMNEEZR -
AR AR M 2P 8 & 5
BURBRIB G -

vi)  FBIRIER

RATRAER 2 BRERE
THRE AR R 2 B IR =
A IR EE2(n)FT € 5T B
RERIE o

NN P 19

ﬁﬁf%ﬁiﬁi% 7/22(Z“<I%T) Hﬁ
T’Hﬁ$ TS‘ZHﬁF‘% féfé()ﬂ#?
REEEIMZEIE KT RRE
EEKERABBERBRAKREH &
B ATBERE MRS - K
Rip s (E - IRABEORFEEREAR
BMEH DR °

RZE——F+=ZA=+—8"
BEREEHS QAZE B
EARRARIEHERZMAUGE
AARAHDIRTRE 2 FEEN B
A B #772,702,0007T (= & — &
F: AR#781,256,0007T) ° % &
ERREARRBRODEEHARE
419,229,000t (ZE—FF : AR
#419,229,0007T) M ABHRL A
R #372,178,00070 (=T —Z 4 :
AR ¥372,178,0007T) B E:TE1E
# A R #18,705,000t (—ZE—F
£ AR¥10,151,0007T) * AI{EH
DIk ©
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 1 December 2007. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options
to the following eligible participants:

i) any employee (whether full-time or part-time,
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
the Group holds an equity interest;

ii) any non-executive director (including independent
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

iy  any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity;

vi)  any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

vii) any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

viii) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group.

29.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

MR B

Apmz ERER S (TR 2
2 IRER _FTLF+_H—
FOBBRBRERS - BRI
FEEREARARTREES A
EBEE  FRAREAAKEEDL
AR REBHNEE - RIBBEER
g ARRE=AANIAERS
BE B -

) ARAE - HEMHRBARSKA
SESEEREZEMER
(MREER]) 2EMEER (T
wmEREGRE - BREERNT
BEF ETEREMERTE
£):

i)  AREF - EAERMEEAQRSIE
MIREBEZEMIERNITES
(BREIIFATES)

iy [AANEETAAE A R ST
BREERREERIRE 2T
Al FER
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue on the day on which trading of the shares
commenced on the Main Board (“General Scheme Limit”).
The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme is 80,000,000 (including those
granted but yet to be exercised), representing 10% of
the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
participant is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue during the 12-month period
before the date of grant without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Any grant of options under the
Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, any grant of options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million within any 12-month period must be approved by
shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

Unless otherwise determined by the directors of the
Company and stated in the offer of the grant of options to
a grantee, there is no minimum period required under the
Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before
it can be exercised.

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited * jZ RIR{REBHR A 7

29. FRBxiEEtE (48)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

An offer for the grant of options to a grantee shall be
accepted by no later than 21 days from the date of offer.
HK$1 per grant of options is payable on the acceptance
of the grant of options. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and expiring in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or upon the expiry of the tenth anniversary
of the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the earlier.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the
date of the offer of grant; (i) the average closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 1 December 2007.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
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29. FRBxiEEtE (#8)
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

a) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed

during the year are as follows, whereby all options
are settled by physical delivery of shares:

Granted to directors:
—on 14 May 2008

Granted to employees:
—on 14 May 2008

Total number of shares
issuable under options
granted

a)
Number of
shares
issuable
under options
granted
REBFREZ
FEERE
AIFRITZ
K8 A
RTEE 2 ERIE
- —TTNF 5,800,000
AATIMA
BTEE ZEBRE -
— —EEN\E 12,000,000
A A+A
RIR P 2 B AR A
A TEITIR D 1B 8
17,800,000
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29. MERRHERTE (&)
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conditions TRRR iR
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one year 10 years
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. FERgHERTE (48)
b) The number and weighted average exercise price of b) Bix#EZEE RNEFHITE
share options are as follows: BT :
2011 2010
2K —T-TE
Number of Number of
Weighted shares issuable Weighted  shares issuable
average under options average  under options
exercise granted exercise granted
price it price RIEFTR
miEEy  BRETRT Mg  ERETES
TR ZHEHREE 1@ ZRAEE
Outstanding at the beginning FHARITE
of the year HK$2.81#7T 17,800,000 HK$2.817% 7T 17,800,000
Lapsed during the year FERR HK$2.81i# 7T (1,000,000) = =
Outstanding at the end FRERTE
of the year HK$2.81# 7T 16,800,000 HK$2.81757T 17,800,000
Exercisable at the end FRATII6E
of the year HK$2.81# 7T 16,800,000 HK$2.81% 7T 17,800,000
The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had R_T——F+-_A=+—H
an exercise price of HK$2.81 (2010: HK$2.81) and a HMATHEEREZITEES
weighted average remaining contractual life of 6.375 281BIL (ZE—ZFF : 2.81
years (2010: 7.375 years). BIT)  IEFEH R E DT
PR R6.376F (=T —F
7.375%F) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

c)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of the share options granted is measured
based on the binomial option pricing model. The
contractual life of the share option is used as an
input into this model.

Fair value of share options and Bz AFE
assumptions BBk

Share price AR B

Exercise price TEE

Expected volatility (expressed as TEHARR R (A [ =18
weighted average volatility EEEBERAA
used in the modeling under R B B DA S 19 0 e
the binomial option pricing model) =)

FBREFH (A

Option life (expressed as weighted
average life used in the modeling

29. FRBxiEEtE (48)

c)

[ IR | BIEEE

BREZAFERRBR

DAt AR T 3 2 PR 2
AFERERBB L D FE
SHE o BEWRIE i AT
B[~ AR g E
S MR AN F AL
B —HERASH -

under the binomial option R AR
pricing model) N9 FERR)
Expected dividends TEEARR B
Risk-free interest rate mEEe = (RIE
(based on Exchange Fund Notes) INERESZR)

2011 2010
—2——%5 —E-TF
HK$0.881#&7 | HK$0.881/& 7T
HK$2.79#7T | HK$2.79/87T
HK$2.81#JT | HK$2.81/87T
40% 40%

10 years 10 years

+% +e

3% 3%

3.21% 3.21%

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on
publicly available information. Expected dividends
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

There were no service conditions or market
conditions associated with the share options
granted.
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30.

Notes to the Financial Statements

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions and all those
divisions are located in the PRC. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to
the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following four reportable segment. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

a)

Sales of EP products and equipment: this segment
sells EP products and equipment to external
customers. Currently the Group’s activities in this
segment are carried out in PRC only.

EP construction engineering projects: this segment
undertakes EP engineering construction projects for
external customers. Currently the Group’s activities
in this segment are carried out in the PRC only.

Provision of EP related professional services: this
segment provides EP related professional services
to external customers and for Group companies.
Currently the Group’s activities in this segment are
carried out in the PRC only.

Manufacture of EP construction materials: this
segment manufactures and sells EP construction
materials to external customers, main products are
wood wool cement board. Currently the Group’s
activities in this segment have not yet commenced.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s CODM monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

30. FEMHE
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E K
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BRASNERE P R A K EE T A
ARHRREBEERS - B
RIS B It 7 #RE £ Bl R
EX

o BUARMREBEMK - RO A
ERASNRE P HERREE
MH - EREmBARBKER
¥ o BRI AN 5 B 1tk 20 A6 i K R
XS -

a) 2OBEE EERAE
STl D &P R IR K 0 BB 2 AL
BRME  AEEZEFLE

REANRATEEERZA 2
BomzxE  BERAE

Annual Report 2011 ¢ —&F ——FF 3}

121



122

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R 2R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible assets and
current assets with the exception of investments
in financial assets and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade and other payables
attributable to individual segments and short-
term bank loan managed directly by the respective
segment.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated and services rendered by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments. Inter-segment assistance provided by one
segment to another is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBITDA” that is, “adjusted earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where
“interest” is regarded as including investment income
and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded as
including impairment losses on non-current assets.
To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings
are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as directors’
emoluments and auditor’'s remuneration and other
corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s CODM
is provided with segment information concerning
revenue (including inter segment sales), interest
income and expense from cash balances and
borrowings managed directly by the segments,
depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
and additions to non-current segment assets used
by the segments in their operations. Inter-segment
sales are priced with reference to prices charged to
external parties for similar orders.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 30. HERERE (48
a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) a) DHEE EEREE (A
Information regarding the Group’s reportable BE_T——FRZT—ZTF
segments as provided to the Group’s CODM for the +_A=+—HLEFE #®HE
purposes of resource allocation and assessment TR BE K o3 B0 < 3R AT 4k T R AR
of segment performance for the years ended 31 EREFEERRARBZA
December 2011 and 2010 is set out below SEA 2w BERFIAT
Sales of EP products EP construction Provision of EP related
and equipment engineering projects professional services Manufactories of
HERR RRER REEG EP construction materials Total
ERRES I#%GH HRSRRE RERRREHH ait
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

~%—-% | Z5-TF | IB—§ | Z2-%% | 13— | Z2-TF | ZB--§ | ZT-%%F | IB—-§ | Z2-%%

RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000
AERFR | ARBTL | AERFR | ARKTL | \RRTR | ARMTT | ARBTR | ARKTR | ARBTR | ARETR

Reportable segment revenue  RESNEZF4)
from external customer BEEDETN 432,167 627,897 37,193 13,114 6,666 5,697 - - 476,026 646,708

Reportable segment profit T 2RAMEA)

(adjusted EBITDA) (WAL IERTDA) | 56,379 | 137,820 (1,070) 1836 31 4,934 (933) - | s | 144590
Interest expenses iR - - - - - - - 365 - 365
Depreciation and ERFEREH

amortisation for the year 2,914 2,041 1,387 287 - = 3,072 = 7,323 2,328
Reportable segment assets ~ AIE2H7 H47E 313,747 392,066 170,317 163,898 4,615 613 290,548 156,392 719,221 712,969
Reportable segment liabilties 257 & E 159,356 18,101 71,793 130,303 9,748 12,069 1,850 5 242,747 160,478
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue
from external customers

Profit

Reportable segment profit derived
from external customers

Other revenue and other net
income

Depreciation and amortisation

Finance costs

Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses

Consolidated profit before taxation

Assets
Reportable segment assets
Non-current financial assets
Unallocated head office and
corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

W
KB INEBE P
A 2D EBA

gl
RESNBEP
Al 2 BB A

H AU AR HoAt 75 W

e KN
BB KA
RO B R B

B 50 Al 67 B g )

nE

2B HEE
FRBEMEE
Ao t¥EE

=l
oy

R

BE

iR

AEHNHasE
BIMmIR B &
EEHIBRE
Aokt Xaa
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30. HEBEE (M)

AE2HDIWA ~ BRIHE
B-EEREBEZHE

2011 2010
—E——5 —E—EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREET T
476,026 646,708
58,147 144,590
7,573 2,354
(10,273) (5,586)
(537) (367)
(34,924) (30,337)
19,986 110,654
779,227 712,969
9,000 6,850
727,709 723,213
1,515,936 1,443,032
242,747 160,478
14,977 21,204
6,566 4,852
37,172 50,673
301,462 237,207




Notes to the Financial Statements

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

31.

b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from sales of EP
products and equipment of approximately
RMB432,167,000 (2010: RMB627,897,000) are
revenues of approximately RMB27,897,000 (2010:
RMB81,660,000) which arose from sales to the
Group’s largest customer. No other single customers
contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for
both 2011 and 2010.

Geographical information

The Group operates all its reportable segments in
the PRC. All revenue of operations and location of its
non-current assets are in the PRC.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

A bank deposit of a subsidiary of approximately
RMB10,000,000 as at 31 December 2011 (2010:
RMB4,500,000) was pledged to secure a banking facility
of approximately RMB26,416,000 (2010: RMB2,800,000)
granted to the subsidiary.

A bank deposits of a subsidiary of approximately
RMB1,060,000 as at 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil)
was pledged to a bank as security in respect of the
performance by the subsidiary under sales of EP products
and equipment.

A building with a carrying amount of approximately
RMBB880,000 as at 31 December 2010 was pledged to a
bank to secure a short-term bank loan of RMB9,000,000
granted to a subsidiary. During the year, the bank loan
was fully repaid and the pledge was released.

B 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

30. HEREE (M)

31.

b) HWE2HSBYA - BRRE
B-EEREEZHE (8)

BT EEFPZEH

FERREMEZBHEZ
WA % A R #432,167,000
T(ZE—ZFTF: AR
627,897,0007T) & & & 8 A
REBHEAREFHEZKWA
4 AN R #27,897,0007T (=&
—Z F: AR #¥81,660,000
) ZF——FR-F—-F
FREWEEBEFER10%
FAETFAEBIKA -

TR EHY

AEBEFEEEEMAANZE
BoEb - HERBDEERHE
ERMEZWAESE -

BEEN

W_ZE——F+-_A=+—8 " —
B AR ZRITHEROARYE
10,000,000 (ZE—ZFF : AR
#4,500,0007T) B - UIEABZ
MEARER ZIRITHENARE
26,416,000 (ZE—FF : AR
#2,800,0007T) Z R °

R—_FE——F+-_A=+—H  —
MIB AR ZRITEROARE
1,060,000 (ZE—ZF : #) B
EETFRITERZMNBARHER
REMRBBZEEER -

R-ZZE—ZTF+-_F=+—8 " B
B #) A R 880,000t 2 — & &
FEEBFIRT  UEA XK B
NAVEREZRHRTEROARKE
9,000,0007C Z #&fR - RFN * % FE
RITERCBREEMKAC ER
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. EAXEZS
a)  During the two years ended 31 December 2011 and a REEZE_Z—FR=-ZT—F
2010, in addition to the transactions and balances FH+ZA=T—BLEREASF
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, B BRRZEFBHHRFTE AL
the Group entered into the following related party MR R 5 REFN - K
transactions: % R THBEATR
5
The Group
*5%H
Relationship with Nature of
Name of related party related party transaction 2011 2010
WEALEB HREALIZRE XHkE 25 —T-ZF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AE®TR ARETT
Wuxi Xin Wei High A company in which Receipt of
Temperature Ceramics Mr. Jiang Lei and rental income
Co., Ltd. Mr. Jiang Quanlong, WEEE KA
EHTEEREE directors of the Company,
BB AT have beneficial interests
KRARIEZBREEAER
BREXENEDHESR
§ay SapANG] 53 53
Osram A company in which Payment of
Bl RIEA Mr. Jiang Lei and rental expenses
Mr. Jiang Quanlong, TREERY
directors of the Company,
have ultimate beneficial
interests
AR ﬂ%%% Z2EER
BRESFERETES
ERER DA (18) (5)
AGC A company in which Proceeds on
BT Mr. Jiang Lei and disposal of
Mr. Jiang Quanlong, prepaid lease
directors of the Company,  payment
have ultimate beneficial HEBNBEREZ
interests P33R
ARRESRRERER
#%%%E%HAHEP%E
ERERIA 10,671 -
Proceeds on
disposal of
buildings
HEBTZHEHEA 6,100 -
b) The details of emoluments of key management by FEEBEAEBRHZE_Z

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited e

personnel during the years ended 31 December
2010 and 2011 are set out in notes 8 and 9.
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33. COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure EBTIIEEZE

contracted but not TR ERR I B RE

provided for in the {EL BB EARY

financial statements:

— in respect of the 2
acquisition of = K%t
property, plant and
equipment

- in respect of injection — $ift B A R IR AN
of the share capital TE

of a subsidiary

Operating lease commitments

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and
the Company had commitments for future minimum
lease payments under operating leases in respect of
the leasing of premises and equipment which fall due

as follows:

Within one year —FR

In second to FFEERF
fifth year inclusive (BEEEME)

More than five years FENUE

Operating leases relate to new factory facilities with

lease terms of 49 years.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

33. #*iE
() EFEE
The Group The Company
5 F0H
2011 2010 2011 2010
=F—% | “T-TF| ZB——% | T ITF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR | ARET | ARBTR | ARETT
75,464 91,546 - _
74,136 - 74,136 -
149,600 91,546 74,136 -

(b) REEREERE

FREEREFEA
RBERHR  AEERART]
RHAEMEREBEREEER
EMARARRZ N REHEER
B AEBERRERNT

The Group The Company
F&E FaH

2011 2010 2011 2010
—B—& | ZT-TF | Z8——% | ZTZF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AERBTR | AR¥TT | ARWTR | ARETR
810 855 791 837
159 981 84 906
805 824 - -
1,774 2,660 875 1,743

REME S R RAF 25
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

33. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Operating lease commitments (Continued)

Included in the above is future minimum lease
payments with related company of approximately
RMB899,000 (2010: RMB917,000) which fall due as
follows:

Within one year —FRX

In second to fifth year inclusive F_FEFRF
(BEERRE)

More than five years AFMNE

The related company is a company in which Mr.
Jiang Lei and Jiang Quanlong, directors of the
Company, have ultimate beneficial interests.

The Group as lessor

The Group had contracted with the tenant, a
related company of the Group, for the following
non-cancellable future minimum lease payments
receivable:

Within one year —FRN
In second to fifth year inclusive F_FEFERF
(BEEEMSF)

The related company is a company in which Mr.
Jiang Lei and Jiang Quanlong, directors of the
Company, have ultimate beneficial interests.
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RS EAEBREOAR
#899,0007T (= & — T 4 :
A R #917,0007T) K BEE A
RIRRKIEAER K - BIHPE
SANR

The Group
*EE

2011 2010
=2——%F —R—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTTT
19 19
75 75
805 823
899 917

WEARAAATEERES
ARBREEEREREAE
R AT -

FREFESHEA
AEEDEBEF (KNEHEEE
X)) BLEAT A AL R R
REEHEEMNRITLAL

The Group
*xEH

2011 2010
—E——fF —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%®FR ARET T
53 53
18 71
71 124

MEAAAAAAEERES
ERBSRELRATRAE
R AT -



33.

34.

35.

Notes to the Financial Statements

COMMITMENTS (Continued)

() The Company had no operating lease commitments
as a lessor as at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has provided product warranties to its
customers in respect of construction work completed
and certain of its EP products sold for a warranty period
ranging from 6 months to 2 years after project completion
or product delivery. At the same time, the Group has also
received warranties in respect of those construction work
and equipment supplied from its sub-contractors and
suppliers. The directors of the Company believe that the
amount of crystallised warranty liabilities, if any, in excess
of the amount covered by the warranties given by the
sub-contractors and suppliers, will not have a material
adverse effect on the overall financial position or results of
operations of the Group.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its
shareholders.

The management actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
through the amount of dividend payment to shareholders
or raise new debt financing. No changes were made in the
objectives or policies during the year.

The management monitors the Group’s capital structure on
the basis of a net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose,
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes
interest-bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other
payables and deposits received and receipts in advance
plus unaccrued proposed dividends minus cash and cash
equivalents).

33.

34.

35.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXEHE (#])
The net debt-to-equity ratio at 31 December 2011 and RZE——FR_ZFT—ZFF+-A
2010 was as follows: = t+t—BzEREEEFENT :
The Group The Company
F&E b 3N
2011 2010 2011 2010
2——5 | —T-TF | ZB——F | ZZT-ITF%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARETr | AR®TR | ARETR
Current liabilities: MBAE:
Short-term bank loan KHEIRITER - 9,000 - -
Trade and other payables ENE S REMIE 101,663 109,703 1,041 1,066
Deposits received and Btz e kBT
receipts in advance 178,256 92,448 - -
Total debt =R 279,919 211,151 1,041 1,066
Less: Cash and cash equivalents i : B4 NER
H4IEHE (606,815) (685,503) (5,393) (6,475)
Net debt B3 (326,806) | (474,352) (4,352) (5,409)
Total equity EnBEE 1,214,474 1,205,825 819,115 825,182
Net debt-to-equity ratio EELEFE N/AREH N/ATNE A N/ATRE R N/ATNEFR
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are XA A) kA fR] E BB R R AN
subject to externally imposed capital requirements. BB e B AR ER S o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business. These risks are limited by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices described below.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

a)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2011, the maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated statements
of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables and amounts due from related
parties which are disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade receivables are
normally due within 60 days from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
its customers.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

a)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, the Group’s exposure
to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. Taking into account
the creditworthiness of the Group’s customers,
the credit risk measures and the historical levels
of the bad debts, the Directors consider that such
concentration of credit risk would not result in
significant credit default exposure to the Group.
At the end of the reporting period, 4.07% (2010:
24.03%) and 13.70% (2010: 37.52%) of trade
receivables due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively arose
from the sales of EP products and equipment
segment.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 18.

Amounts due from related parties are regularly
reviewed and settled unless the amounts are
specifically intended to be long-term in nature.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are bank with good reputation and
high credit ratings.

Credit risk associated with an advance to a local
government authority is mitigated because the
counter party is PRC local government. The carrying
amount of the amount advanced to the local
government authority amounted to RMB97,230,000
(2010: RMB97,230,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk and fair
value interest rate risks relate primarily to variable-
rates and fixed rates respectively of pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and short-term bank loan.
The Group’s normal policy is not to use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, the management of the Company will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arises. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.

i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate

profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of
the reporting period.

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

36. &R TR ()

b) FEREE

AEEZHREERENREAR R
RFENEREBREENRIED
EIRRITER - |RITHEBRIAE
HSRTERZFBNEREE
MEER - —RME  ~5E
ZHERTRBEATESHE
RN ERER - EHLE R
RAEEEREEEHHEKX
FEER - AEBHEEEE
E I R BB () ©

) FIEBR

TRAFDRAEBENER
RIRE HIR A FRBER o

2011 2010
~2——% It S 33
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
ERfE ERME
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Net variable rates borrowings J% &) | & & 70548
Bank loans-secured BITEN - BHEE - -| 606-6.97 9,000
Total net borrowings BERFE - 9,000
Net fixed rates borrowings [l Fi| & (& ZUF 4B
as a percentage of AEETREN
total interest-bearing BO
borrowings - _
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+_A=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) Interest rate risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that
a general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group’s profit after tax and retained profits
by approximately RMB6,068,000 (2010:
RMB6,810,000). Other components of equity
would not be affected by the changes in
interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative
financial instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates
over the period until the end of the next
reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2010.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to fixed rate bank borrowings. The
directors consider the fair value interest rate
risk is insignificant to the Group as most of
them are short-term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c)

Bt 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_T——F+-A=+—HILFE

36. @M TR ()

Liquidity risk c) REBELEAR
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter nBESRERIIENEERNE
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with TEBENRS RN A EAM
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering CHEELBIRzEMAR
cash or another financial asset as they fall due. The EBRBIREBENRR - A&
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and B 2R AT e R Al k1A
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance HnBEeRTkERHEETE
with lending covenants and to ensure that it REBEZIER - AR AEER
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate B RIN S E RER R
committed lines of funding from banks to meet its THRBRHEEAES - UEN
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. HEBERERBZADESH
The following table details the remaining contractual TRAFIAEERARAZ
maturities at the end of the reporting period of FITESRBERREHRZ
the Group’s and the Company’s non-derivative BRTAHER - WHERELD
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual FIERMBRRER (BR/RIE
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments BHIFTER R R FEFIRFTE
computed using contractual rates and variable rates) ZHETR) RAEBERAR
and the earliest date the Group and the Company AR AN R =T B HE
can be required to pay. a0
2011 2010
2% %%
Total Total
contractual contractual
undiscounted Within 1 undiscounted Within 1
cash flow year or cash flow year or
Carrying  &#F%E ondemand | Carying  A%HE  ondemand
amount *BR  —FhE amount KR —FAR
FEE Reken BXRE REE HenieE Kby
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTTE ARRTRT ARRTR | ARETT ARETT ARETR
The Group P31
Short-term bank loan REBTER - - - 9,000 9,627 9,627
Trade and other payables ENESRAIR 101,663 101,663 101,663 109,703 109,703 109,703
101,663 101,663 101,663 118,703 119,330 119,330
The Company b /NG|
Accruals and other payables fEztE R Rt E[FUE 1,041 1,041 1,041 1,066 1,066 1,066
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c)

d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group held cash and bank balance amounting to
approximately RMB606,815,000 as at 31 December
2011 (2010: approximately RMB685,503,000), which
it considers is adequate for it to manage its liquidity
requirements.

Currency risk

The Group’s is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases that are denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy, however, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure if necessary.

i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s and
the Company’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets and liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate.

36. @M TR (i)

c)

d)

The Group
550

2011

RBEEERE (K)

AEBR T ——F+ A8
=T —BEFEEZHEE KRBT
4 5 4 A R #606,815,000
T(ZE—ZF: HAREK
685,503,0007T) ° AEER R
ERNEBARBESFER -

B RR

AEEP Rz E¥REREER
B EARBEATS R I e E H A
SN ERHECEBERSEH
ZE R o AN B B AT SN
HHBER - A EEESE
ZOMNER R - WA AET ERE
B HEAINERE

) EEEEER

TRFAINAEERARF]
RS R E R 8 E
% BRARRTIRINER
LB 2L EHLASN
ZEMEHEZCHREE

Trade and other
receivables

Cash and bank balances

Trade and other payables

Overall net exposure

EREARAL
A

ReREiThe
EfEA LA

U]

ERRRIR

HK$'000
T

2,158
16,870

(1,274)

F-F
AUD'000
TR

EUR'000
TR

HK$ 000
Thn

2,949
17,911

(1,258)

MRBEMES -
The Company
0T
2010 2011 2010
-%-% -8—-f %%
AUD000  EUR000 | AUD'000 | AUD'000
Thr TEr | TAm | TEn

17,749

19,602
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-A=+—HLFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s profit after tax and
retained profits for the year and other
components of equity in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Company has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period date.

36. #M TR (i)

2011
8¢

Increase/  Effect on profit
(decrease)  aftertaxand  Effect on other
inforeign  retained profits  components of
exchangerates  HRRHR& AT equity
SHE® REEEH HiEgx
B/ (&%) k4 7 Bocke
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ABRTR AE®TR AR®TT
HKD AT 1% 145 -
(1%) (145) -
AUD R 1% - -
(1%) - -
EUR BT 1% 80 -
(1%) (0) -

d ERAR ()

i) BEEST
TRETRRBEHR
7N 5 B BR B 18 0% B & AR
Ban ks imEn
EADFEGEARR
TERAETEEHT
2D -

2010
“5-%%

Increase/  Effect on profit

(decrease) aftertaxand  Effect on other

inforeign  refained profits  components of

exchangerales  HBHEER equity

NER RRERH HEaih

/(i) L7E a7
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT BT N S
% 166 -

(1%) (166) -

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rate had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to the
Group’s exposure to currency risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date. The stated
changes represent management’s assessment
of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchanges rates over the period until the end
of the next reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2010.

A E SRR E o T E R R
RN [ R B E) B A A
WEBKR BEANK
SEBRERFENS M
TAFEBEHEER
o FMMBEHITEEE
HEZTEREHRLE
RN EEREERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the effect is immaterial
at the end of the reporting period. RMB
denominated the operations of the Group
and the exposure on other currencies is
insignificant.

e) Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the
following financial instruments.

i)

Liquid or/and short-term assets and liabilities

For financial assets and financial liabilities
that are liquid or having a short-term maturity,
it is assumed that the carrying amounts
approximate their fair values. The assumption
is applied to trade and other receivables, trade
and other payables, pledged bank deposits
cash and cash equivalents without a specific
maturity.

37. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

i)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expenses. These estimates are
based on the current market conditions and
the historical experience of manufacturing and
selling products of similar nature. Management
will reassess the estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Carrying amount of inventories
as at 31 December 2011 are approximately
RMB81,156,000 (2010: RMB33,750,000).
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37. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

ii)

iii)

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the
provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables. This estimate is based on the
credit history of its customers and the current
market conditions. Management reassesses the
provision at the end of each reporting period.
Carrying amount of trade and other receivables
as at 31 December 2011 are approximately
RMB514,365,000 (2010: RMB529,803,000).

Construction contacts

As explained in policy notes 2(i) and (2) (q)
(i) revenue and profit recognition on an
uncompleted project is dependent on
estimating the total outcome of the construction
contract, as well as the work done to date.
Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the construction activity
undertaken by the Group, the Group makes
estimates of the point at which it considers
the work is sufficiently advanced such that the
costs to complete and revenue can be reliably
estimated. As a result, until this point is reached
the amounts due from customers for contract
work as disclosed in note 25 will not include
profit which the Group may eventually realise
from the work done to date. In addition, actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue
may be higher or lower than that estimated at
the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILEE

37. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

a)

b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

iv)

Warranty provisions

As explained in note 34, the Group does not
make provision under its product warranties it
gives on sales of its EP products and provision
of EP construction engineering projects
taking into account the Group’s recent claim
experience as the Group has also received
warranties in respect of those construction
work and equipment supplied from its sub-
contractors and suppliers. It is not indicative
of future claims that it will receive in respect of
past sales.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

i)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group
estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment in order to determine the amount
of depreciation expenses to be recorded. The
useful lives are estimated at the time the asset
is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets,
as well as technical obsolescence arising from
changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also performs
annual reviews on whether the assumptions
made on useful lives continued to be valid.
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37.

Notes to the Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

if) Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments

The Group assesses annually whether property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments have any indication of impairment.
The recoverable amounts of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations require the use
of judgements and estimates.

i) Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement of the future tax treatment of certain
transactions and the interpretation of tax
rules. The Group carefully evaluates the tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to
take into account all changes in tax legislation.

38. PARENT COMPANY

39.

The director considers the immediate and ultimate
parent of the Group to be Praise Fortune Limited, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and controlled by the Chairman of the Company, Mr.
Jiang Quanlong. This entity does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
disposed of the motor vehicles with carrying value of
RMB73,000 for considerations of RMB419,000 to settle
the trade payables and other payables. Further details of
the disposals are set out in notes 14.

37.

38.

39.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-T——F+-A=1t—HLEE

40. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following new and revised
HKFRSs which are not yet effective for the year ended 31

December 2011.

The Group has not early applied any of the following new
and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

Amendments to
HKFRS 7

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 12

HKAS 19
(as revised in 2011)

HKAS 27
(as revised in 2011)

HKAS 28
(as revised in 2011)

Amendments to
HKAS 32

HK (IFRIC)-Int 20
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Disclosures-Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial
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Mandatory Effective Date of
HKFRS 9 and Transition
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Consolidated Financial
Statements®
Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?

Fair Value Measurement?

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income®

Deferred Tax-Recovery of
Underlying Assets*

Employee Benefits?

Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures?

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®
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Production Phase of a
Surface Mine?
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Notes to the Financial Statements

40. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2011 (Continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2011.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2012.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.

40. EFRMEREE
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Financial Summary

MBRE

Following is a summary of the consolidated results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years prepared on a basis as stated in the notes

below:

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Turnover EER
Profits before taxation BR 7 AT e 7
Income tax expenses FTE
Profit for the year FEHEF

maxkiA

For the year ended 31 December
BE+_BA=1+—HILEE

TRARAEEBER BN RFER TR
HEREERECGAEENGEEE
HAEERE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITY

Total non-current assets FRBEERE
Total current assets MEBEERE
Total assets EERAE

Total liabilities BERE

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
22— | ZZ-TF ZTTNF ZTTN\HF ZTTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARETT ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTL
476,026 646,708 608,972 593,765 703,946
19,986 110,654 125,143 117,563 277,214
(11,162) (35,999) (37,385) (41,428) (67,766)
8,824 74,655 87,758 76,135 209,448

FEEENRAR

As at 31 December

®»+=-RA=1+—8H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—@——% |-T-TF -“TTNF -—TENF -ETtfF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARETT ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTT
301,690 189,307 61,546 61,710 62,962
1,214,246 | 1,253,725 1,344,862 1,293,881 1,171,530
1,515,936 | 1,443,032 1,406,408 1,355,591 1,234,492
301,462 (237,207) (246,581) (288,438) (205,312)
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